

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder(s). The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Note if anything has been removed from thesis.

#### Figure 2.1 p8, Figure 2.2 p9, Figure 2.3 p11, and pages 132-135

When referring to this work, the full bibliographic details must be given as follows:

Cao, H. (2010). *Design of an energy-efficient geographic routing protocol for mobile ad-hoc networks.* PhD Thesis. Oxford Brookes University.

### Design of an Energy Efficient Geographic Routing Protocol for Mobile Ad-hoc Networks

by

Hui Cao

School of Technology Oxford Brookes University

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Oxford Brookes University for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

December 2010

### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my principal supervisor Dr. Geoff Childs for his guidance, advice and encouragement throughout the period of the research.

Special thanks are due to my second supervisor Dr. Peter Ball for fruitful discussions and advice. I also wish to express my appreciation to Dr. Khaled Hayatleh. Thanks must be given to the School of Technology for providing an excellent research environment.

I wish to express my gratitude to my friends and colleagues, especially to Jin Jiang and Yong Sheng, for their friendship and encouragement.

Finally, my very special thanks go to my family for their love, support and understanding. In particular, I would like to thank my parents who encourage and support me in all my pursuits.

### **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgementsii
List of Symbols and Abbreviationsx
Abstractxiii
Chapter 1 Introduction1
1.1 Overview1
1.2 Aim and Objectives2
1.3 Outline of the Thesis5
Chapter 2 Mobile Wireless Networks7
2.2 The IEEE 802.11 standard7
2.2.1 IEEE 802.11b
2.2.2 IEEE 802.11g10
2.3 Routing Protocols in Mobile Ad-hoc Networks11
2.3.1 Proactive Routing Protocols12
2.3.1.1 Optimized Link State Routing (OLSR)13
2.3.2 Reactive Routing Protocols15
2.3.3 Hierarchical Routing Protocols
2.3.4 Geographic Position-Assisted Routing Protocols
2.4 Summary23
Chapter 3 Development of the Wireless Model on OPNET24
3.1 OPNET Modeler24
3.2 Modelling of the MANET on OPNET25
3.2.1 Network Model25
3.2.2 Node Model27
3.2.3 Process Model
3.2.4 Medium Access Control Model in OPNET
3.3 Model development on OPNET35

3.3.1 Modelling wireless effects on OPNET	35
3.4 Summary	37
CHAPTER 4 Development of an Energy Efficient Geographic Routing Prot	tocol
(EE-GRP)	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Energy Efficient Forwarding for Geographic Routing	41
4.3 The Concept of a Gain Region	43
4.3.1 Geometrically Based Analysis for Transmission Power Reduction	43
4.3.2 Relay Region	49
4.4 Energy Efficient Relay Node Selection	51
4.4.1 Power Aware Based Routing	53
4.4.2 Battery Life Based Routing	54
4.5 Simulation and Results for Three-hop Scenario	55
4.6 Summary	60
Chapter 5 Development of Enhanced Energy Efficient Geographic Routing	3
Protocol	61
5.1 Routing Protocol Improvement through Relay Region Modification.	61
5.2 Optimisation for Relay Region Size	65
5.3 Simulation Results	70
5.4 Summary	73
Chapter 6 Signalling Processes for Geographic Routing Protocol	74
6.1 Introduction	74
6.2 Description of the Signalling Process	74
6.2.1 Initial flooding for co-ordinate distribution	75
6.2.2 Geographic Table	77
6.2.3 Hello messages Broadcast	78
6.2.4 Neighbour Table Establishment	79
6.2.5 Position Request	79
6.2.6 Flooding for Position updates	79

6.2.7 Forwarding	80
6.2.8 Face Routing	80
6.3 Enhanced Signalling Messages	81
6.4 Simulation & Results Analysis	
6.4.1 Simulation Scenario	
6.4.2 Signalling Processes for other Routing Protocols	
6.4.3 Simulation for the routing protocols	
6.4.4 Simulation Results Analysis	
6.5 Conclusion	117
Chapter 7 Conclusions and Future Work	118
7.1 Conclusions	118
7.2 Original Contributions	121
7.3 Future Work	
Reference	
Published work	
Certificate of IET Short Paper Competition	
Presentation Award	
Appendix A: Creating a Wireless Network on OPNET	142
Appendix B: Radio Transceiver Pipeline Stages	151

### List of Figures

Figure 1.1 General structure of the wireless networks1
Figure 2.1 Wi-Fi channels in 2.4 GHz band [21]8
Figure 2.2. The Coverage of IEEE 802.11b [22]9
Figure 2.3. Classification of Ad-hoc Routing Protocols [35]11
Figure 2.4. Comparison of LSR and OLSR14
Figure 2.5 DSR Routing Request and Reply Mechanism18
Figure 2.8. Dead End Scenario in Geographic Greedy Forwarding21
Figure 2.9. Dead End Scenario by using perimeter mode22
Figure 3.1 Network Example for MANET26
Figure 3.2 MANET Object Palette27
Figure 3.3 MANET Routing Configuration on Interface
Figure 3.4 Packet Generation Parameters
Figure 3.5. MANET Traffic Generation Parameters
Figure 3.6. The probability density function of Uniform Distribution
Figure 3.7 Transmit Power Attribute
Figure 3.8 MANET Node Model Architecture
Figure 3.9 Signalling Packet from Routing Protocols
Figure 3.10 grp_rte Process Model
Figure 3.11 Flow Chart for pkt_arrival State
Figure 4.1. Forwarding Progress for Geographic Routing
Figure 4.2. Examples of Node Choice for Different Geographic Routing Protocols41
Figure 4.3. Forwarding Schemes Comparison with Four Hops42
Figure 4.4. Two-Hop Example44
Figure 4.5. Concept of a Gain region46
Figure 4.6. Total Transmission Power in the Gain region 3D47
Figure 4.7. 2D Representation of Total Transmission Power in the Gain region
Figure 4.8. Gain Regions with various path loss exponents $\eta$
Figure 4.9. Relay Region49
Figure 4.10. Relay region for Multi-hop Network
Figure 4.11. Multi-hop Network Example51
Figure 4.12. Three-hop network55
Figure 4.13 Comparison of total transmission power (140m range)56

Figure 4.14 Comparison of route life time (140m range)
Figure 4.15 Increased Relay Region Size by Increased Tx Range
Figure 4.16 Comparison of total transmission power with different transmission range59
Figure 4.17 Comparison of route life time with different transmission range
Figure 5.1 Gain region for multi-hop network
Figure 5.2 Limits of $r_d$ which define the relay region
Figure 5.3 Limited Relay Region Size under Minimum Hop Count
Figure 5.4 Solution to Limited Relay Region Size Problem - Step I
Figure 5.5 Optimised Size of Relay Region with n hops
Figure 5.6 Distance from destination for each hop
Figure 5.7 Size Control Mechanism for Relay Region
Figure 5.8 Flow Chart of Routing Process
Figure 6.1 Flow Chart of Signal Messages
Figure 6.2 Structure of MAC Address
Figure 6.3 Example of Face Routing
Figure 6.4 Final hop problem
Figure 6.5 Network Scenario with 11 Nodes
Figure 6.6 Simulation Scenario
Figure 6.7 MANET RX Group Config94
Figure 6.8 Comparison of Signalling Traffic (bits/sec) for Different Routing Protocols
Figure 6.9 Packet Format for IP_dgram_V4100
Figure 6.10 Comparison for Average Signalling Overhead Sent (bits/sec)102
Figure 6.11 Comparison of Signalling Overhead Sent (bits/sec)103
Figure 6.12 Comparison for Average Signalling overhead Sent (bits/sec) II104
Figure 6.13 Comparison for Signalling overhead Sent (bits/sec)
Figure 6.14 Comparison for Average Signalling Overhead Sent (bits/sec)106
Figure 6.15 Average Number of Neighbour per Node for EEE-GRP
Figure 6.16 Comparison of Average Signalling Overhead Sent by EEE-GRP
Figure 6.17 Comparison of Average Signalling Overhead Sent with Different Packet
Size
Figure 6.18 Comparison of Average Signalling Overhead Sent with Different Packet
Inter-arrival Time
Figure 6.19 Simulation Scenario with 25 Nodes

Figure 6.20 Signalling Rate Comparison for 25 Nodes with FSPL Model112
Figure 6.21 Signalling Rate Comparison for 25 Nodes with NonFSPL Model
Figure 6.22 Simulation Scenario with 50 Nodes113
Figure 6.23 Signalling Rate Comparison for 50 Nodes with FSPL Model114
Figure 6.24 Signalling Rate Comparison for 50 Nodes with NonFSPL Model
Figure 6.25 Simulation Scenario with 100 Nodes115
Figure 6.26 Signalling Rate Comparison for 100 Nodes with FSPL Model116
Figure 6.27 Results Comparison with Various Node Density & Tx Range for EEE-GRP

### List of Tables

Table 2.1. Typical Receiver Sensitivity VS Data-Rate of IEEE802.11b [21]
Table 2.2. Transmission Range of IEEE 802.11b [22]
Table 5.1. Size of Relay Region under Different Tx Range and Hop Count67
Table 5.2. Simulation Results for Power Consumption with Low Hop-Count
Table 5.3. Simulation Results for Power Consumption with High Hop-Count
Table 5.4 Simulation Results for Route Lifetime with Low Hop-Count
Table 5.5 Simulation Results for Route Lifetime with High Hop-Count       73
Table 6.1 Flooding Message  76
Table 6.2 Geographic Table77
Table 6.3 Hello message 78
Table 6.4 Hello message with Battery Information       78
Table 6.5 Neighbour Table  79
Table 6.6 Neighbour Table for Node S
Table 6.7 Improved Routing Table for Node S
Table 6.8 Improved Hello message
Table 6.9 Improved Neighbour Table I
Table 6.10 Improved Neighbour Table II  83
Table 6.11 Hello message for Node A  84
Table 6.12 Hello message for Node B  84
Table 6.13 Neighbour Table of Node S
Table 6.14 Hello message of Node A  86
Table 6.15 Hello message of Node D  86
Table 6.16 Hello message of Node H  86
Table 6.17 Neighbour Table of Node A
Table 6.18 Neighbour Table of Node H
Table 6.19 Neighbour Table of Node D
Table 6.20 Improved Hello message
Table 6.21 Comparison of Mobile Ad-hoc Routing Protocols       99
Table 6.22 Number of Neighbour Node for Hello messages     101

### List of Symbols and Abbreviations

Associativity-Based Routing		
Ad-hoc On-Demand Distance Vector routing protocol		
Access Point		
Bit Error Rate		
Binary Phase-Shift Keying		
Complementary Code Keying		
Clusterhead-Gateway Switch Routing		
Carrier Sense Multiple Access/Collision Avoidance		
Clear To Send		
Differential Binary Phase-Shift Keying		
Distributed Coordination Function		
Differential Quadrature Phase-Shift Keying		
Distance Routing Effect Algorithm for Mobility		
Dynamic Source Routing protocol		
Direct-Sequence Spread Spectrum		
Energy Efficient Geographic Routing Protocol		
Enhanced Energy Efficient Geographic Routing Protocol		
the European Telecommunications Standards Institute		
Fuzzy Sighted Link State routing		
Finite State Machine		
Free Space Path Loss		
Fisheye State Routing		
File Transfer Protocol		
Geographical Distance Routing		
Geographic Addressing and Routing		
Greedy-Face-Greedy		
Global Positioning System		
Greedy Perimeter Stateless Routing		
Geographic Routing Protocol		

HIPERLAN	High-Performance radio LAN		
HSR	Hierarchical State Routing		
НТТР	Hypertext Transfer Protocol		
ID	Identity		
IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers		
ISM	Industrial, Scientific and Medical		
LAN	Local Area Network		
LANMAR	Landmark Ad-hoc routing protocol		
LAR	Location-Aided Routing		
LMR	Lightweight Mobile Routing		
IP	Internet Protocol		
MAC	Medium Access Control		
MANET	Mobile Ad-hoc Networks		
Mbps	Megabits per second		
MIT	Massachusetts Institute of Technology		
MFR	Most Forwarding within Radius		
MPR	Multipoint Relay		
NFP	Nearest with Forward Progress		
Non-FSPL	Non Free Space Path Loss		
ODF	Optimal-Distance Forwarding		
OFDM	Orthogonal Frequency-Division Multiplexing		
OLSR	Optimized Link State Routing		
OUI	Organizationally Unique Identifier		
PDA	Personal Digital Assistant		
РНҮ	Physical layer		
QAM	Quadrature Amplitude Modulation		
QPSK	Quadrature Phase-Shift Keying		
RFC	Request for Comments		
RREP	Route Reply control message		
RREQ	Route Request control message		
RERR	Route Error control message		
RTS	Request To Send		

Rx	Receiver
STD	State Transition Diagram
SNR	Signal-to-Noise Ratio
TBRPF	Topology Broadcast based on Reverse Path Forwarding
TC	Topology Control
ТСР	Transmission Control Protocol
TORA	Temporally-Ordered Routing Algorithms
Тх	Transmitter
UDP	User Datagram Protocol
W	Watt
WiFi	Wireless Fidelity
WLAN	Wireless Local Area Network
ZRP	Zone Routing Protocol

.

### Abstract

Mobile Ad-hoc networks extend communications beyond the limit of infrastructurebased networks. Future wireless applications will take advantage of rapidly deployable, self-configuring multi-hop mobile Ad-hoc networks. In order to provide robust performance in mobile Ad-hoc networks and hence cope with dynamic path loss conditions, it is apparent that research and development of energy efficient geographic routing protocols is of great importance. Therefore various mobile Ad-hoc routing protocols have been studied for their different approaches. Forwarding strategies for geographic routing protocols are discussed and there is a particular focus on the pass loss model used by those routing protocols, the restriction and disadvantage of using such path loss model is then discussed.

A novel geographic routing protocol which incorporates both the link quality and relay node location information has been developed to determine an energy efficient route from source to destination. The concepts of a gain region and a relay region to minimize the energy consumption have been proposed to define the area in where the candidate relay nodes will be selected with the minimized hop count. The signalling overhead required by the protocol has been analyzed in various scenarios with different traffic load, node densities and network sizes. Discrete event simulation models are therefore developed to capture the behaviour and characteristics of the operation of the developed routing protocol under different path loss conditions and network scenarios. A non-free space path loss model has been developed with a random loss between the nodes to simulate a realistic path loss scenario in the network. An enhanced signalling process has been designed in order to achieve advanced routing information exchange and assist routing determination.

Comparison of simulated characteristics demonstrates the significant improvement of the new routing protocol because of its novel features, the gain region to ensure the deduction of the energy consumption, the relay region to ensure the forward progress to the destination and hence maintain an optimised hop count. The simulation results showed that the energy consumption under the operation of the developed protocol is 30% of that with a conventional geographical routing protocol.

### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

### **1.1 Overview**

Wireless networks utilise two main architectures: infrastructure (single-hop) networks and mobile Ad-hoc (multi-hop) networks (MANETs) [1]. The general form both these architectures is illustrated in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 General structure of the wireless networks

A mobile Ad-hoc network is a network based on a set of autonomous nodes. There is no fixed infrastructure or a central server. All the nodes in the network act as routers to discover and maintain routes to other nodes. Wireless networks running in Ad-hoc mode offer more flexibility than infrastructure mode networks and eliminate single points of failure for the entire network. Ad-hoc networks [2-4] exclude the use of a wired infrastructure. A significant advantage of Ad-hoc networks is that mobile nodes can form arbitrary networks "on the fly" to exchange information without the need of a pre-existing network infrastructure. Mobile Ad-hoc networks can extend communication beyond the limit of infrastructure-based networks. Future wireless applications will take advantage of rapidly deployable, self-configuring multi-hop mobile Ad-hoc networks

Currently mobile Ad-hoc networks are utilised and proposed for various applications such as wireless sensor networks (WSN) which are networks of many individual nodes, each of which performs computations autonomously on data gathered via on-board sensors (optical, aural, temperature, etc.) or received via a wireless link.

Wireless networks of sensors are likely to be widely deployed in the near future because they greatly extend our ability to monitor and control the physical environment from remote locations and improve the accuracy of information obtained via collaboration among sensor nodes and online information processing at those nodes. Networking these sensors (empowering them with the ability to coordinate amongst themselves on a larger sensing task) will revolutionize information gathering and processing in many situations. Typical applications include habitat monitoring [5], tracking of moving objects [6] and environmental monitoring [7]. Other applications of Ad-hoc networks are target tracking, emergency rescue tasks and data acquisition in inhospitable or human inaccessible environments [8].

Multihop Ad-hoc networks have been the focus of recent research and development efforts in mobile networks [9]. MANET research generally assumes the following conditions [10]:

- Distributed operation. The control and routing operations are distributed among network devices.
- Multi-hop routing. Multi-hop forwarding decisions at each node require a distributed routing algorithm that can discover network topology so that routes can be formed between communicating nodes.
- Fluctuating link capacity. MANETs operate in the wireless domain. Atmospheric properties, competition from other sources of RF radiation and noise limit the capacity of a node to transmit information.
- Light-weight terminals. Since MANETs require mobility, nodes often run off battery power and conform to small form-factors that limit computing power.

### **1.2 Aim and Objectives**

Routing protocols for mobile Ad-hoc networks are currently the subject of intensive research. The goal of routing is to deliver a packet from a source node to destination

node in a network. To solve the routing problem, nodes of the network execute a distributed "routing scheme".

Geographic, or position-based routing uses the location information of nodes to find the route towards the destination. The co-ordinates of each node can be determined by using a GPS (Global Positioning System) receiver at each node and distributing this information to all other nodes within the network. Through location management schemes [11, 12], a source node is able to use this information to determine the location of the destination and identify all the intermediate nodes that could be used as a relay to the destination. Properties such as stateless nature and low maintenance overhead make geographic routing an attractive technique.

Conventional geographical routing protocols use location information as the only metric to select a relay node. Each node makes a decision about which neighbour to forward the message to based solely on the location of itself, its neighbouring nodes, and the destination node. The ideal FSPL (free space path loss) model is the basis of many protocols and is widely used in analytical and simulation studies. Each node has a fixed transmission range so that only the nodes within the range can receive the messages. Such a range can be modelled by a disk with fixed radius centred at the node. Hence, a maximum-distance greedy forwarding technique has been employed by those protocols in which a source node selects a relay node within its transmission range that is the closest to the destination in order to ensure a minimised hop count. However, the variability of wireless links exposes a key weakness in the greedy forwarding strategy which may result in packets being dropped and broken links. These schemes then have an innate weakness in terms of energy efficiency and link reliability.

The wireless nodes are normally energy and memory constrained devices, such as PDAs, cell phones, pagers and battery-powered sensors. Mobile users rely on a small battery to power the terminal, and a large part of the required power may be used in signal transmission. Even when using a laptop with a larger battery, the power requirements of the 802.11 specification form a significant factor in battery life [13]. The hardware constraints prevent the nodes from performing some of the energy costly operations that are utilised by the traditional wired networks. It is therefore desirable for a routing protocol to try and achieve the lowest possible transmitted power.

The reduction in transmitted power can have several benefits [14-17]. The battery life of a terminal may be extended, and frequency re-use can be greater due to the reduction in interference, so increasing capacity. Alternatively, the reduction in path loss may improve service. High data rates, or even any service, may be unavailable to users near the edge of a conventional cell due to the maximum transmitted power being unable to achieve the required signal to noise ratio. With relaying the only requirement is that users can achieve the required signal strength at the next relay, meaning that coverage and high data rates should be available to more users.

In order to provide robust performance in mobile Ad-hoc networks and hence cope with dynamic path loss conditions, it is apparent that research and development of energy efficient geographic routing protocols is of great importance. The aim of the work is to develop a novel geographic routing protocol which incorporates both the link quality and relay node location information to determine an energy efficient route from source to destination. The concepts of a gain region and a relay region have been proposed to define the area in where the candidate relay nodes will be selected, with the specific aim of maintaining a minimized hop count.

The research programme therefore comprises the following objectives:

- To study and investigate existing geographic routing protocols and the signalling processes.
- To study simulation models including network models, node models and process models of MANET routing protocols by using a leading discrete event driven modelling and simulation software, the OPNET Modeler [18].
- To model and simulate variable radio path loss model. The purpose being to adopt accurate models to generate realistic path loss conditions for MANET simulation and hence to obtain more realistic network performance.
- To develop an energy efficient geographic routing protocol incorporating variable path loss assignment. To analyse the signalling overhead required to operate the protocol compare its efficiency with that of established protocols for scenarios with different node density and network size.

 To seek to optimize the energy efficient geographic routing protocol by focusing on investigation of hop count with further improvement of relay region determination. The optimized energy efficient geographic routing protocol being designed to support a large number of hops to cope with longer separated source and destination nodes and provide improved performance in terms of both energy efficiency and optimised hop count.

### 1.3 Outline of the Thesis

In Chapter 2 wireless LAN technology and the IEEE 802.11 standard [19] are introduced. A range of routing protocols for mobile Ad-hoc networks are reviewed. Some key features of routing protocols for mobile Ad-hoc networks are discussed in particular for geographic routing.

In Chapter 3 a discrete-event simulation package, the OPNET Modeler, is introduced. The Modeler is considered as the simulation platform for developing, modelling and simulating the proposed routing protocols. Simulation models are developed and implemented on OPNET with a hierarchical structure. The network architecture for modelling of routing operation is determined. This is followed by a description of each of the simulation models used in OPNET.

Chapter 4 introduces the development of an energy efficient geographic routing protocol. The focus is made up of the path loss model of the wireless radio transmission. Attention is then drawn to energy efficiency as a key issue of geographic routing protocols. The development of geographic protocols is reviewed and discussed in order to determine how an energy efficient geographic routing protocol will be achieved. The concepts of gain region and relay region are described to exploit the novel feature of the proposed energy efficient geographic routing protocol in which candidate relay nodes are defined. For comparison several conventional forwarding strategies are discussed with the relative advantages and disadvantages. The proposed routing protocol is designed and implemented within OPNET to simulate the energy efficient operation based on the framework described in Chapter 3. The routing performance is analysed in terms of total transmission power and route lifetime to show the benefit of the energy efficient geographic routing protocol.

In Chapter 5 further improvement of proposed energy efficient geographic routing protocol is carried out to obtain improved routing performance in a scenario where the hop count is increased through modification of the relay region. Attention is drawn to the relationship between the hop count and the size of each relay region which determines the number of candidate nodes for each hop. Instead of using maximum-distance forwarding to achieve a minimised number of hops, the proposed protocol predetermines an optimal number of hops and uses this hop count for route determination. A size control mechanism for the relay region is proposed in order to maintain a reasonable size of the relay region for each hop. The simulated characteristics are also compared with the routing protocol presented in Chapter 5.

In Chapter 6 the signalling processes for the proposed routing protocols in Chapter 4 and 5 are introduced. With the enhanced signalling system, the routing protocol is able to obtain additional information to assist route determination. An investigation with a focus on the impact of different network densities and traffic patterns on the proposed routing protocol is also carried out. The signalling system is simulated and the amount of signalling information is determined and analysed, and compared with the signalling overhead of some established routing protocols.

Finally, Chapter 7 provides a summary of the research undertaken and the conclusions that have been drawn. The original contributions are also identified and suggestions for future work are presented.

### Chapter 2 Mobile Wireless Networks 2.1 Introduction

Wireless LANs are used for providing network services in places where it may be very difficult or too expensive to lay cabling for a wired network. WLANs can be broadly classified into two types [20], infrastructure and Ad-hoc networks, based on the underlying architecture.

In infrastructure networks, a stationary node called an access point (AP) coordinates the communication taking place between nodes in the LAN. The APs can interact with wireless nodes as well as with the existing wired network. The other wireless nodes, also known as mobile stations, communicate via APs.

In Ad-hoc networks, no fixed infrastructure is needed. Mobile nodes communicate with each other. Signalling messages are forwarded through other nodes which are directly accessible.

The two main standards for WLANs are the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) 802.11 standard [21] and the European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI) high-performance radio LAN (HIPERLAN) standard. The characteristics of mobile nodes modelled in this research project are based on the IEEE802.11b standard. The detail of the IEEE 802.11 standard is described in the following sections. Various routing protocols for Ad-hoc networks are also discussed in this chapter, especially for some routing protocols which are selected to compare the performance of the developed routing protocol.

### 2.2 The IEEE 802.11 standard

The IEEE 802.11 Working Group was formed in 1990 to define standard physical (PHY) and medium-access control (MAC) layers for WLANs in the publicly available ISM (the industrial, scientific and medical) bands. The objective of this standard is to provide wireless connectivity to wireless devices that require rapid deployment, which may be portable, or which may be mounted on moving vehicles within a local area. The IEEE 802.11 standard also aids the regulatory bodies in standardizing access to one or more radio frequency bands for the purpose of local area communication. The 802.11

## 3<sup>RD</sup> PARTY COPYRIGHT MATERIAL EXCLUDED FROM DIGITISED THESIS

## PLEASE REFER TO ORIGINAL TEXT TO SEE THIS MATERIAL

workgroup currently documents use in three distinct frequency ranges, 2.4 GHz, 3.6 GHz and 4.9/5.0 GHz bands. Each range is divided into a multitude of channels.

Currently, the most widely used are those defined by the 802.11b and 802.11g protocols which are introduced as follows.

#### 2.2.1 IEEE 802.11b

The IEEE 802.11b standard [21] was ratified in 1999 with operations in the 2.4 GHz ISM band, which is freely available for use throughout the world. This standard is popularly referred to as Wi-Fi, standing for Wireless-Fidelity. It can offer data rates of up to 11 Mbps. As shown in Figure 2.1, there are 14 channels designated in the 2.4 GHz range spaced 5 MHz apart with the exception of a 12 MHz spacing before Channel 14. In Europe, the allowable channels are 1-13. Channel 14 is only valid for direct-sequence spread spectrum (DSSS) and Complementary Code Keying (CCK) modes in Japan.

As the IEEE 802.11b protocol requires 25 MHz of channel separation, adjacent channels overlap and will interfere with each other. There are three channels, channel 1, 6 and 11, available to use without overlap.

### Figure 2.1 Wi-Fi channels in 2.4 GHz band [21]

A receiver has a minimum received power threshold which is called the receiver sensitivity that the signal must have to achieve a certain bitrate. If the signal power is lower the maximum achievable bitrate will be decreased or BER performance will decrease. The IEEE802.11b standard operates in the 2.4 GHz frequency range and uses the Direct Sequence Spread Spectrum (DSSS) modulation method. This results in a maximum data rate of 11 Mbps. As the distance between the access point and client increases, the data rate falls to 5.5, 2, and 1 Mbps, respectively. Table 2.1 shows the typical receiver sensitivity values for these data rates for a 802.11b device.

# 3<sup>RD</sup> PARTY COPYRIGHT MATERIAL EXCLUDED FROM DIGITISED THESIS

## PLEASE REFER TO ORIGINAL TEXT TO SEE THIS MATERIAL

Data Rate (Mbps)	Receiver Sensitivity (dBm)
11	-82
5.5	-87
2	-91
1	-94

Table 2.1. Typical Receiver Sensitivity VS Data-Rate of IEEE802.11b [21]

Usually, WLAN equipment has an output power of 15 dBm (about 30mW). The legal limit for radiated power (EiRP) for WLAN is generally set to 100mW (20dBm) in Europe. Figure 2.2 shows the indoor coverage of IEEE 802.11b under different data rates with 100mW at 2.4GHz. While the data rate decreases from 11Mbit/s to 1Mbit/s, the coverage of the AP increases from 48m to 124m in an indoor environment. This is because the receiver sensitivity increases as the data rate decreases.

#### Figure 2.2. The Coverage of IEEE 802.11b [22]

Table 2.2 below lists the transmission range for the IEEE 802.11b in the indoor and outdoor environment [22]. In the outdoor free space environment, the transmission range is 304m with 11Mbps. When the data rate is down to 1Mbps, the maximum transmission range reaches 610m. In multipath environments such as offices and other indoor environments, the maximum ranges at 1Mbps and 11Mbps are 124m and 48m respectively.

Data Rate (Mbps)	11	5.5	2	1
Indoor Range (m)	48	67	82	124
Outdoor Range (m)	304	-	-	610

Table 2.2. Transmission Range of IEEE 802.11b [22]

### 2.2.2 IEEE 802.11g

The IEEE 802.11g standard was published in 2003 [23]. This standard was involved in extending the 802.11b standard to support high-speed transmissions of up to 54 Mbps and uses the same Orthogonal Frequency-Division Multiplexing (OFDM) based transmission scheme as 802.11a, while maintaining backward compatibility with current 802.11b devices. The possible data rates for 802.11g devices using OFDM are 6, 9, 12, 18, 24, 36, 48, and 54 Mbps, and it also achieves 5.5 and 11 Mbps when using Complementary Code Keying (CCK), and 1 and 2 Mbps under Differential Binary Phase-Shift Keying (DBPSK) / Differential Quadrature Phase-Shift Keying (DQPSK) + Direct-sequence spread spectrum (DSSS) modulation schemes.

Table 2.3 lists the transmission ranges and modulation schemes for the IEEE 802.11g in the indoor and outdoor environment at different data rates [24]. Binary Phase-Shift Keying (BPSK), Quadrature Phase-Shift Keying (QPSK), 16 Quadrature amplitude modulation (16QAM) and 64QAM schemes are also used to support various data rates for IEEE 802.11g.

Data Rate (Mbps)	Transmission Type	Modulation Scheme	Outdoor Range (m)	Indoor Range (m)
54	OFDM	64 QAM	34	27
48	OFDM	64 QAM	61	29
36	OFDM	16 QAM	69	30
24	OFDM	16 QAM	99	43
18	OFDM	QPSK	122	55
12	OFDM	QPSK	145	64

# 3<sup>RD</sup> PARTY COPYRIGHT MATERIAL EXCLUDED FROM DIGITISED THESIS

## PLEASE REFER TO ORIGINAL TEXT TO SEE THIS MATERIAL

11	DSSS	ССК	149	67
9	OFDM	BPSK	168	76
6	OFDM	BPSK	198	91
5.5	DSSS	ССК	201	94
2	DSSS	DQPSK	210	107
1	DSSS	DBPSK	213	125

Table 2.3. Transmission Range and Modulation Schemes of IEEE 802.11g [24]

### 2.3 Routing Protocols in Mobile Ad-hoc Networks

A mobile Ad-hoc network (MANET) [25] is a self-organizing and self-configuring multi-hop wireless network, where the network structure may change dynamically. The changing topology of mobile Ad-hoc networks and the use of the wireless medium justify the need for different routing protocols compared to those developed for wired networks or centrally controlled cellular networks. Various routing protocols for mobile Ad-hoc networks have been proposed [26-34] to address the problem of decentralized routing.

In Ad-hoc networks, nodes do not start out familiar with the topology of their networks; instead, they have to discover it. The basic idea is that a new node may announce its presence and should listen for announcements broadcast by its neighbours. Each node learns about nodes nearby and how to reach them, and may announce that it, too, can reach them. A classification of Ad-hoc routing protocols is shown below in Figure 2.3 which differentiates the routing protocols according to their technique, link state, hop count and QoS in route discovery.

#### Figure 2.3. Classification of Ad-hoc Routing Protocols [35]

In Figure 2.3, Ad-hoc routing protocols are classified in three broad categories: flat routing, hierarchical routing and geographic position assisted routing. Flat routing protocols adopt a flat addressing scheme. Each node in the network participating in routing plays an equal role. Routing protocols in flat network structure fall into two categories, namely, table-driven proactive routing and on-demand reactive routing.

In contrast, in hierarchical routing, some nodes would be selected as header nodes amongst a cluster. Routing between nodes is different clusters must be directed via the header nodes. This scheme requires the complexity of selecting and maintaining the node hierarchy, but reduces the amount of signalling to support routing.

Routing with the assistance from geographic location information requires each node to be able to obtain location information through location services such as Global Positioning System (GPS).

### **2.3.1 Proactive Routing Protocols**

Many proactive (table-driven) routing protocols stem from conventional link state routing protocols which are based on the periodic exchange of routing table information between all nodes in the network, even if no data traffic goes through. They aim to maintain fresh lists of all destinations and their routes. In this approach, each Ad-hoc node contains a routing table which specifies the next node in a route to any other node in the network. In mobile Ad-hoc networks, a route can be identified more quickly using proactive routing than reactive routing. However, the power and bandwidth consumption is larger due to topology table exchange among nodes. This takes place even if the network is in idle mode when no data transmissions occur in the network. So a large portion of the scarce wireless bandwidth is wasted on signalling overhead to broadcast routing tables. Structured routing can be utilized to reduce the route setup time and increase throughput. The main disadvantages of such algorithms are:

- Respective amount of data for maintenance
- Slow reaction on restructuring and failures

Some typical proactive routing protocols include the Fisheye State Routing (FSR) [36, 37], Fuzzy Sighted Link State routing (FSLS) [38], Optimized Link State Routing (OLSR) [28, 39, 40] and Topology Broadcast based on Reverse Path Forwarding

(TBRPF) routing protocol [29, 30]. In this thesis, OLSR is selected as one of the reference protocols to compare the performance with other routing protocols as well as my proposed protocol. More details of OLSR are described as follows.

### 2.3.1.1 Optimized Link State Routing (OLSR)

OLSR is an IP routing protocol which is optimized for mobile ad-hoc networks [28, 39, 40]. It is a table-driven proactive routing protocol based on link-states. Instead of relying on the number of hops to the destination node by distance vector protocols, link-state protocols determine the best route according to the link delay, load and bandwidth etc. It is acknowledged that link-state routes are more stable and accurate although estimating the best available route by this approach is more complicated than simply utilising hop count. Compared with pure link-state protocols, the control overhead information of OLSR is compact and the number of retransmissions required to flood these control messages is reduced.

The perfect network context for OLSR is a low mobile and dense network scenario. The control signalling overhead of OLSR does not require a reliable transmission link, which is very suitable for the dynamic condition in wireless networks. Mobility is supported in OLSR by periodically broadcasting the overhead control signals in the network. OLSR uses Hello and Topology Control (TC) messages to discover and then discriminate link state information throughout the mobile ad-hoc networks. Individual nodes use this topology information to compute next hop destinations for all nodes in the network using shortest hop forwarding paths. Topology information is exchanged with other nodes of the network regularly. Each node in the network selects a set from the next hop neighbour nodes as "multipoint relay" (MPR) nodes. The purpose of multipoint relay set is to reduce the overhead control messages and provide route optimization.

In OLSR, only nodes, selected as MPRs, are responsible for forwarding control traffic, intended for diffusion into the entire network. MPRs retransmit broadcast control messages while other one-hop neighbours receive messages and update their information accordingly but do not retransmit them [41]. MPRs provide an efficient mechanism for flooding control traffic by reducing the number of transmissions required. A comparison of LSR and OLSR protocols is shown in Figure 2.4. Using

LSR 24 retransmissions are required to diffuse a message up to 3 hops, while OLSR requires only 11 retransmissions.



Figure 2.4. Comparison of LSR and OLSR

The route is established by using the routing table, which is based on the topology table and the neighbour node list saved in each node. The topology table is built by broadcasting Topology Control messages periodically which contain the multipoint relay set of each node. This makes the multipoint relay set for each node available to use for all other nodes in the network. The purpose of having a multipoint relay set in OLSR is to avoid sending the same overhead control message multiple times to the same node. This will optimize the energy and network bandwidth consumption. The Route discovery procedure is described as follows:

- Hello message is broadcasted by each node periodically that contains the information of its one-hop neighbours. The TTL of the Hello message is set to 1, which means the Hello message will not be forwarded further by its neighbours. Each node can obtain local topology information through the Hello message exchange.
- A node (selector) chooses a subset of its neighbour nodes based on the local topology information to act as its MPRs, which will be specified in the periodic Hello messages later. MPR nodes generally have two main roles:
  - When a packet is sent or forwarded by a node, all the neighbours of the

node will receive the packet. But only its MPR nodes will forward that packet.

- The MPR broadcasts its selector list periodically throughout the network with MPR flooding. Thus every node in the network learns which MPR nodes could reach every other node. The number of retransmissions of topology information broadcast and the size of broadcast packet can then be reduced. As the result, the bandwidth consumption of OLSR is much lower than the original link state routing protocols.
- With global topology information exchanged, stored and updated at every node, a shortest path from one node to other nodes through a series of MPRs could be computed using Dijkstra's algorithm [42].

The main advantages of OLSR are:

- Minimized latency
- Suitable for large and high density networks
- OLSR achieves more efficiency than classic link state algorithms in a dense network.
- OLSR can support QoS monitoring by providing link quality and bandwidth information in link state entries. Thus, the quality of the path is known prior to route setup.

Some disadvantages of OLSR include:

- The OLSR can reduce to a pure link state routing protocol in the situation of low density networks, every neighbour of a node becomes a multipoint relay.
- High signalling overhead of control messages (reduced by MPR usage)
- High computation of the route for each node
- Large storage requirement for routing information.
- Implementation complexity

### **2.3.2 Reactive Routing Protocols**

2-

The reactive protocols are based on on-demand route discoveries that update routing tables only for the destination that has traffic going to it. The protocols find a route on

demand by flooding the network with Route Request packets. Reactive routing protocols suffer from the initial route setup latency, introduced by their discovery phase. This degrades the performance of interactive and/or multimedia applications. With light traffic and low mobility network, on-demand reactive routing protocols scale well to large populations in terms of low bandwidth and storage overhead. However, when the traffic becomes heavy in a dense network, more sources will search for destinations. Also, in a high mobility scenario, the pre-discovered route may not be valid even after a short period, requiring repeated route discoveries on the way to the destination. Route caching then becomes ineffective.

The main disadvantages of such algorithms are:

- High latency time in route finding
- Excessive flooding can lead to network clogging

Examples of reactive routing include Ad-hoc On-Demand Distance Vector Routing protocol (AODV) [26] and Dynamic Source Routing protocol (DSR) [27], Associativity-Based Routing (ABR) [43], Lightweight Mobile Routing (LMR) [44] and Temporally-Ordered Routing Algorithms (TORA) [45]. Among the many proposed reactive routing protocols, AODV and DSR have been extensively evaluated in the MANET literature and are being considered by the MANET IETF Working Group as the leading candidates for standardization. The details of AODV and DSR are described in the following sections as aspects of their performance is compared with that of the routing protocol proposed in this thesis.

### 2.3.2.1 Ad-hoc On-Demand Distance Vector Routing (AODV)

Ad-hoc On-Demand Distance Vector Routing protocol (AODV) discovers routes on an "on-demand" basis via a similar route discovery process, but uses a different mechanism to maintain routing information. It is a "Hop-by-hop" protocol and uses routing table, one entry per destination. Intermediate nodes use routing table to determine the next hop based on the destination node. It relies on routing table entries to propagate a route reply control message (RREP) back to the source, and route data packets to the destination. In AODV, upon receiving a query, a node learns the path to the source, which is called backward learning, and enters the route in the forwarding routing table. The intended destination node receives the request and responds using the path traced by the query. A full duplex path can be established through this procedure.

To reduce the signalling overhead in a new path search, the query packet will be dropped during the flooding stage if it encounters a node which already has a route to the destination. After the path is established, it is maintained as long as the source node uses it. A link failure message will be reported to the source node recursively through the intermediate nodes if the path is invalid. This in turn will trigger a new queryresponse procedure to update the route.

A sequence number is used in AODV to ensure that routing information is up-to-date. The path discovery is established when a source node needs to communicate with a destination node, provided that the source has no routing information to the destination in its routing table. Path discovery is initiated by broadcasting a route request control message 'RREQ' that propagates in the forward path. If a neighbour node knows the route to the destination, it will reply with a RREP that propagates through the reverse path. Otherwise, the neighbour node will re-broadcast the RREQ. AODV maintains a path by using Hello messages, used to detect that neighbours nodes are still in range of connectivity. If a link is lost or broken, the node immediately engages a route maintenance scheme by initiating RREQs. The node can also learn about a lost link from its neighbours through route error control messages RERR [46].

#### 2.3.2.2 Dynamic Source Routing (DSR)

The main difference between DSR and all other reactive protocols is that DSR is based on a source routing scheme in which the source node specifies the intermediate node sequence. In DSR, routes are stored in a route cache, data packets carry the source route in the packet header [27]. The entries which are stored in the route cache are updated as new routes are learned. When a node needs to send data to a destination node, it first searches its routing cache to see if it has a route to the destination. If a valid route exists in the routing cache, it will use that route to send the packet out. The source route is then carried by the data packet in the packet header. Route discovery is undertaken when a source needs a route to a destination. It is the major phase in DSR protocol, which is executed by flooding Route Request (RREQ) packets in the network as shown in Figure 2.5(a). The source node floods the network with RREQs. Each node receiving a RREQ adds itself to the path in the message and rebroadcasts it unless it is the destination node or it has the route to the destination in its cache. A destination node or a node knowing the route to the destination in its cache replies by unicasting with a RREP which contains the complete path built by intermediate nodes. RREQ and RREP

## PAGES MISSING IN ORIGINAL

routing process are programmable by developing the process models within the process editor. The behaviour of processes are specified using finite state machines (FSMs) and an extended high-level language called Proto-C. The FSMs are represented using state transition diagrams (STDs) as the state transition approach is well suited to discrete event systems. Proto-C is based on a combination of STDs, a library of functions known as kernel procedures, and the general facilities of the C or C++ programming language.

The description above essentially spans all the hierarchical levels of a simulation model on OPNET. Based on an object-oriented modelling approach and graphical editors, the layered modelling architecture and features of Proto-C language provide a flexible and open environment to support development of protocols and algorithms. As a powerful simulation package, OPNET Modeler incorporates a series of tools for model design, simulation, data collection, and data analysis. In this research use of OPNET for the development of the routing simulation models for MANET became an essential feature of the research programme.

Much effort was put into the design and development of the routing protocol model for MANET on OPNET: from top layer design of the routing protocol, establishment of the node structure and implement action of each functional block at the node level, to the development of process models based on Proto-C programming. Furthermore, in order to produce performance analysis statistics such as hop count, route power consumption, life-time of the link, etc., the desired statistics were planned and programmed while developing the process models.

### 3.2 Modelling of the MANET on OPNET

#### 3.2.1 Network Model

The details of deploying a MANET model are introduced in appendix A. To establish a network model, various network parameters need to be configured such as network scale, node model type, number of nodes, distribution of the nodes etc. A typical example network for MANET on OPNET is shown in Figure 3.1. Each node within the network is uniquely identified by its IP address. IP auto-addressing is supported for MANET nodes. All MANET nodes are configured to belong to the same IP network. If there is a static assignment, that assignment will use a network address which is in the subnet to which all nodes must belong. If there is more than one static assignment and


the nodes have been given addresses in different networks, the first static assignment that is encountered becomes the network address of all the nodes in the subnet.

Figure 3.1 Network Example for MANET

Mobile node placement can be chosen from the three distribution functions which are random, grid and circular distribution. In this project, random distribution was used to simulate a realistic deployment of mobile nodes in the network. The maximum communication distance between two nodes is a function of three parameters: the transmission power of the sending node, the path-loss propagation model, and the reception power threshold (receiver sensitivity) of the receiving node. The Dynamic Receiver Group configuration object lets you compute receiver groups, which are the set of possible receivers with which a node can communicate within the maximum communication distance. This configuration object lets you specify:

• the criteria (channel match, distance threshold, and pathloss threshold) used to

determine which receivers belong to a receiver group

- when the groups are used
- how often group membership is computed

By restricting the set of possible receivers, you can reduce the number of transmissions sent out by the nodes in the network and reduce simulation runtimes. The decrease in simulation speed depends on the following factors:

- Number of possible neighbours for each node with respect to the total number of receivers
- Number of recomputations during the simulation (refresh interval)

#### 3.2.2 Node Model

All MANET-capable nodes are included in the MANET object palette as shown in Figure 3.2.





The following nodes can be used in MANET network models.

- Wireless LAN workstations and servers: These node models are used to generate application traffic such as FTP, E-mail, and HTTP over TCP over IP over wireless LAN. These nodes can be configured to run any available MANET routing protocol.
- MANET stations: These node models are used to generate raw packets over IP over wireless LAN. They function as traffic sources or destinations and can be configured to run any available MANET routing protocol. For this node type, Layer-2 is wireless LAN.

 Wireless LAN routers and MANET gateway: These node models function as access points in a MANET. When MANET gateway functionality is enabled, these nodes can also connect MANET nodes to IP networks.

Routers within a MANET must have the same MANET routing protocol configured on every router interface under attributes IP > IP Routing Parameters > Interface Information > Routing Protocols on a MANET station, as shown in Figure 3.3 below.

Type rout	ler .		
Attribute		Value	1
ŏ	Froms Town 0	2 IF0 Active Auto Assigned Auto Assigned.	
0	-Name	IF1	
ð	-Status	Active	The state of the state of the state of the
ð	-Address	192.0.5.10	Configure MANET
ð	- Subnet Mask	255 255 255 0	fouting protocol on al
ð	E Secondary Address Informat.	Not Used	router interfaces
Ō	E Subinterface Information	None	iouter interfaces
1	-Routing Protocol(s)	TORA	
0	-MTU (bytes)	WLAN	
1	Metric Information	Default	
1	E Layer 2 Mappings	None	
0	Packet Filter	None	
0	- Policy Routing	None	
1	- Routing Instance	None	
0	- Compression Information	None	
0	- Interface Speed (kbps)	10 Mbps	
•	Aggregation Parameters	None	
1	Encapsulation	Not Configured	
•	-VRF Sitemap	None	
3	Description	N/A	
Apply o	changes to selected objects	☐ Adva	nced

## Figure 3.3 MANET Routing Configuration on Interface

Applications are the predominant sources of traffic in the network. It is the traffic generated by applications that loads the network, makes demands on the bandwidth and the underlying network technology, and creates signalling overhead in MANET. The standard applications, such as FTP and Email, can be configured by the "Application Config" utility node to generate simulated traffic in the network model. To be an accurate representation of the application, an application model should have the same traffic characteristics in terms of the size of the packets generated, the rate at which they are generated etc. Raw packet generation can also be used by MANET stations in the network model. Raw packet generation can be configured from "MANET Traffic Generation Parameters" attributes on a MANET station in the Project Editor as shown in the following Figure 3.4.

Type workstation			
Altribute	Value	-	
T name	mobile_node_54		
(2)  -trajectory	olst_move		
AD-HOC Routing Parameters			
#ARP			
# DHLP			
# neports			
THANET Traffic Generation Parameters	News		
Winders I AN	rione	and the second se	
C WECKESS LANS		Security & Mary Paul, Bar	
C WEGGIS LAW			
MANET Traffic Genera	stion Parameters) Table		
(MANET Traffic General Stat Time (seconds) Packet	stion Parameters) Table	ation IP Add.   Stop Time (second)	
(MANET Traffic General Stat Time (seconds) Packs 100.0 expon	stion Parameters) Table InterAniva. Packet Size (bit) Denti ential (1) exponential (1024) Band	ation IP Add  Stop Time (seconds)	
(MANET Traffic General Stat Time (seconds) Packet 100.0 expon	stion Parameters) Table (InterAniva, Packet Size (bits) Deuti ential (1) exponential (1024) Rand	ation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
Stat Time (seconds) Packe 100.0 expon	stion Parameters) Table (InterAniva, Packet Size (bitz) Deuti ential (1) exponential (1024) Rand	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
Stat Time (seconds) Packs 100.0 expon	stion Parameters) Table (InterAniva, Packet Size (bitr) Destin ential (1) exponential (1024) Pland	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
Stat Time (seconds) Packs 100.0 expon	stion Parameters) Table (InterAniva, Packet Size (bitr) Destin ential (1) exponential (1024) Pland	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
Stat Time (seconds) Packs 100.0 expon	ation Parameters) Table (InterAniva Packet Size (bitt) Destin ential (1) exponential (1024) Rand	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
Stat Time (seconds) Packs 100.0 expon	ation Parameters) Table (InterAniva. Packet Size (bitr) Destin ential (1) exponential (1024) Rand	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
Start Time (seconda) Packe 100.0 espon	ation Parameters) Table InterAniva. Packet Size (bitt) Desti ential (1) exponential (1024) Rand	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
(MANET Traffic General Stat Time (seconds) Packs     100.0 expon	Stion Parameters) Table InterAniva. Packet Size (bit) Destinant Internal (1) exponential (1024) Rand	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	
(MANET Traffic General Stat Time (seconds) Packe 100.0 expon	Nion Parameters) Table InterAniva. Packet Size (bit) Desti ential (1) exponential (1024) Rand	nation IP Add Stop Time (seconds) om End of Simulation	

#### **Figure 3.4 Packet Generation Parameters**

The MANET traffic generator enables superposition of numerous packets' generators, which are defined by the following parameters:

- Start time of generator activity (s)
- Statistical distribution of time between packets (s)
- Statistical distribution of the packet size (bits)
- IP address of final destination
- End time of generator activity (s)

1
100.0
100.0
100.0
uniform (2.0, 2.5)
constant (1024)
Random
End of Simulation

Figure 5.5. MANET Traffic Generation Parameters

Figure 3.5 shows a sample of the MANET traffic generation editor. Number of Rows defines the number of different traffic patterns in the simulation. A uniform distribution is used in the simulation to generate random values for packet inter-arrival times. This parameter determines when packets are generated in the source node for transmitting to the destination node. In probability theory and statistics, the uniform distribution,

sometimes also known as the rectangular distribution, is a distribution in which all intervals of the same length (in this case  $10^{-6}$ s) have equal probability within the defined min and max range as shown in Fig 3.6 in which P(x) is the probability density function.



#### Figure 3.6. The probability density function of Uniform Distribution

The maximum transmission range between two MANET nodes is a function of three parameters: the transmission power of the sending node, the path-loss propagation model, and the reception power threshold (receiver sensitivity) of the receiving node. Based on the configured values of these parameters, you can model MANET networks in which the communication distance is more than 300 meters. The IEEE 802.11 standard limits the distance between nodes to 300 meters. Therefore, a network that extends beyond 300 meters might incur a performance degradation in the WLAN MAC algorithm.

The receiver sensitivity concept is implemented through the reception power threshold attribute with MANET models. Packets with a reception power that is lower than the threshold cannot make the receiver lock onto their signal and will be treated as noise packets. When the signal of these packets is very weak, the receiver can simultaneously receive another packet with a strong signal from a nearby neighbour.

The transmitter power can be configured on each MANET node. Transmission range is configured in the Transmit Power attribute as shown below.

+ (s	tation_24) Attributes		
Туре	workstation		
Altribute		Value	
0	Wireless LAN Parameters	[]	
0	- BSS Identifier	Auto Assigned	
0	- Access Point Functionality	Disabled	
0	- Physical Characteristics	Direct Sequence	Set transmitter
0	- Data Rate (bps)	1 Mbps	nowar far davia
0	E. Channel Setting:	Auto Assigned	power for device
2	- Transmit Power (W)	0.005	
0	-Packet Reception-Power Threshot.	.95	1

Figure 3.7 Transmit Power Attribute

As shown in Figure 3.8, the node model of MANET simulates the protocol stack. GRP, DSR, AODV and TORA protocols are implemented over IP while OLSR is implemented over UDP.



Figure 3.8 MANET Node Model Architecture

Geographic Routing Protocol (GRP) is implemented at the IP layer. As shown in the figure above, ip\_dispatch is the root process for IP and has as a child process, manet\_mgr. manet\_mgr and manet\_rte\_mgr are the manager process models which provide a common interface to multiple MANET routing protocols. manet\_mgr is responsible for spawning the GRP child process when a node is configured for GRP.

Figure 3.9 shows the flow chart of signalling packets from routing protocols. The signalling messages generated by MANET routing protocols are sent to the manet\_mgr process model and then to ip\_dispatch and the IP routing process and finally to the MAC/physical layer for transmission.



Figure 3.9 Signalling Packet from Routing Protocols

## 3.2.3 Process Model

The grp\_rte process as shown in Figure 3.10 implements the GRP routing algorithm as well as the improved GRP protocol which is proposed in later chapters.



Figure 3.10 grp\_rte Process Model

*Init* state: This state consists of the initialization of the process model. User defined attributes are loaded and routing information tables are initialized. A self interrupt is scheduled to move to the next state. A jitter between 0 and 5 seconds is added before sending out flooding packets. Once the initialization step is accomplished, the process transits to the wait for flood state.

*wait\_for\_flood* state: This state performs initial flooding so that it bootstraps to reach steady state. A flooding message is broadcast to all nodes in the network to inform its presence and location information. A self interrupt is scheduled to move to the next state to initiate the first Hello Interval. A jitter between 0 and 5 seconds is also added before sending out hello packets.

*wait\_for\_hello* state: This state is the initialization of the hello process. A node broadcasts a Hello message in order to advertise its presence to the neighbourhood. A schedule is made for the next periodic hello process according to a pre-defined hello interval. Once this step is accomplished, the process transits to the *wait* state.

wait state: This is the idle sate for the node. It will move to other states when a new event is triggered such as the arrival of packet etc.

*pkt\_arrival* state: When a packet arrives, the node checks its attribute and handles the packet appropriately based on its type. The flow chart for this state can be seen in the Figure 3.11 below.



Figure 3.11 Flow Chart for pkt\_arrival State

The arrived packet can either be:

- A higher layer application packet waiting to be transmitted when a route is found.
- A MANET signalling/routing packet.

If the packet is from the application (higher) layer, the node then checks if the destination exists in its routing table. The application packet will be destroyed if the destination is not known to this node. Or the node will go through the routing process to find a relay node to send the packet to if the destination exits in the routing table. However, the packet will be destroyed if no next hop can be found.

If the arrived packet is either a GRP control packet or a data packet from the lower layer then if the packet was sent out by the node itself, it will be discarded, if not, the node will check the type of option set in the packet. The packet may be one of the types listed below:

- A Hello message. The node will add or update the neighbour node information to the neighbour table.
- A flooding message. The routing table of the node will be updated with the information provided by the message.
- A data packet. The node will check the address of the destination node. If the packet is for this node, it will be sent to the application layer. Or this node is just an intermediate node to the destination, the routing procedure will be executed to find the next relay node for the packet.
- A position request option. The node will check if the request is for itself or one of the nodes within its routing table. If so, a position response packet will be sent back otherwise the packet will be resent out to the neighbourhood.
- A position response option. The node will update the routing table with the information contained in this message.

*hello\_broadcast* state: This state broadcasts a hello request message and schedules the next periodic hello.

*position\_update* state: Check if the node has moved greater than the pre-defined threshold distance which the node needs to flood its current position to all other nodes in the network.

*pos\_req\_expiry* state: Find the list of destinations that the node is still waiting on the position information. When the position request timer has expired, node resends the position request message to the neighbour node and schedules the position request timer for receiving a position response message.

The general information about process model for AODV, DSR and OLSR can be found from OPNET website and the user manual [60, 61].

## **3.2.4 Medium Access Control Model in OPNET**

OPNET supports simulation of Ad-hoc wireless networks using the physical layer and medium access control layer models. The IEEE 802.11 MAC protocol with Distributed Coordination Function (DCF) [21] is deployed as the MAC layer in the simulations. DCF is the basic access method used by mobiles to share the wireless channel and avoid hidden and exposed terminator problems [56]. The access scheme is Carrier Sense Multiple Access/Collision Avoidance (CSMA/CA) with acknowledgements. The nodes can make use of Request To Send / Clear To Send (RTS / CTS) channel reservation control frames for unicast, virtual carrier sense, and fragmentation of packets larger than a given threshold. In the model, the RTS/CTS mechanism is deployed to minimize the effect of collisions over the wireless medium.

## 3.3 Model development on OPNET

#### 3.3.1 Modelling wireless effects on OPNET

MANETs have been proposed for scenarios with complex obstacle-rich environments. Therefore, it is important that MANET protocols be carefully evaluated in such conditions. Factors affecting received power include wavelength, distance, terrain, humidity, temperature, objects in the path etc. Wireless links are typically less reliable than wired links and need to be characterized appropriately.

'Pipeline' is used in OPNET to simulate and denote a sequence of calculations for the transceiver characteristics such as path loss, signal strength and bit errors etc. The details of radio pipeline stages are described in appendix B. Each stage performs a different calculation for a radio transceiver.

The fundamental performance measure computed by the default Radio Transceiver Pipeline is the average power level of signals received by radio receiver channels. By computing this value for every relevant signal arriving at each radio receiver channel, the Received Power Model, which is the seventh stage of the pipeline, enables later stages to compute signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) and then derive bit error rate (BER).

The computation of received power occurs independently for each packet that is able to reach and affect the radio receiver channel. The result of the Received Power Model invocation for each packet is a single double precision floating point value which represents the received power level for the packet.

For all arriving packets, whether valid or invalid, the average power level of the received signal is computed. This computation is a link budget which takes into account the initial transmitted power, the path loss, and receiver and transmitter antenna gains. The power (in units of watts) allocated to the transmission is obtained from the packet's transmission data attribute. The base frequency of transmission and the bandwidth of transmission are also obtained from the transmission data attributes. The values of these two variables are then used to compute the centre frequency of the transmission. The wavelength lambda, of the packet transmission is given by the propagation velocity of light, c, divided by the centre frequency.

The propagation distance (in meters) for the packet transmission is obtained from the packet's transmission data attribute. The free space propagation loss is computed as a function of wavelength and propagation distance with the relation given in the equation below.

$$p_d = \left(\frac{\lambda}{4\pi D}\right)^2 \tag{3.1}$$

Where  $P_d$  is the path loss, D is the distance between transceivers,  $\lambda$  is the frequency.

A link model is developed on OPNET to simulate the random path loss between nodes to facilitate the analysis of routing performance for MANET. This work will involve a matrix G for the extra path loss in addition to the FSPL model. Assume that N nodes exist in a network numbered from 1 to N. A matrix G for extra path loss can be defined as follows.

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} G_{11} & G_{12} & \dots & G_{1N} \\ G_{21} & G_{22} & \dots & G_{2N} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ G_{N1} & G_{N2} & \dots & G_{NN} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.2)

 $G_{ij}$  is the extra path loss between node *i* and *j*. The range of G is between 0 and 20 dB. The overall path loss is then calculated in the following equation.

$$P_{ij} = P_d + G_{ij} \tag{3.3}$$

Depending on the path loss between node i and j, a transmission on this link is either possible or not which defines 1 or 0 for  $C_{ij}$ . A connectivity matrix C with N nodes is expressed as:

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} C_{11} & C_{12} & \dots & C_{1N} \\ C_{21} & C_{22} & \dots & C_{2N} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ C_{N1} & C_{N2} & \dots & C_{NN} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4)

With this connectivity matrix, the connection status between any nodes can be obtained while conventional method only uses distance metric to determine nodes connectivity.

## 3.4 Summary

In this chapter, OPNET modeller has been introduced and MANET models have been discussed. The simulation carried out in this project follows the characteristics discussed in this chapter.

# **CHAPTER 4 Development of an Energy Efficient Geographic Routing Protocol (EE-GRP)**

## 4.1 Introduction

Geographical approaches build on the proactive or reactive techniques previously described and in addition incorporate geographical information to aid in routing [11, 57-61]. This geographical information can be in the form of actual geographic coordinates as obtained through the global positioning system (GPS), or can be obtained through reference points on some fixed coordinate system. The use of geolocation information can prevent network-wide searches for destinations, as either control packets or data packets can be sent in the general direction of the destination rather than in all directions if the recent geographical coordinates for that destination are known. This reduces the control overhead generated in the network; however, all nodes must have continual access to the geographical coordinates of network nodes for these approaches to be useful.



Figure 4.1. Forwarding Progress for Geographic Routing

Most geographic routing approaches are based on the concept of progress, which is defined as the projection of the distance travelled from the source node to any

neighbouring nodes in a forward direction along the line from the source to the destination as shown in Figure 4.1. Any neighbouring nodes, (as previously described), of the source normally fall within the maximum transmission range  $r_s$ . Any nodes within the shaded area identified in Figure 4.1 are those with positive progress toward the destination. Candidate nodes for use in relaying data, are therefore those neighbour nodes which have a forward progress less than  $r_s$  and lie within the shaded area shown in Figure 4.1.

A typical example of forward strategy for geographic routing is the maximum-distance greedy forwarding routing scheme in which packets are forwarded to a neighbour which is closest to the destination D and lies within the maximum transmission range. In the example shown in Figure 4.1 this protocol would choose node N2 as the relay node. The maximum-distance greedy forwarding scheme is designed with the following aims:

- Maximum Forwarding Distance
- Minimum hop count
- Minimising network messaging
- Reducing power consumption

Some basic position-based routing algorithms have also been proposed which are discussed below.

Consider the angle formed by line segments SN and SD, where S is the forwarding node, N is a potential next hop and D is the destination. The compass routing algorithm [62], forwards packets to the neighbour N that forms the smallest angle with the destination. Compass routing algorithm is also memoryless.

Randomized Compass routing algorithm [63] is a variation of the compass algorithm that avoids loops with random decisions. It is also a memoryless algorithm. Consider as in the compass routing the line defined by forwarding node and destination. At each node, two options are considered to route a packet: the neighbour with smallest angle above that line and the neighbour with smallest angle below that line. One of those neighbours is randomly chosen to be the next hop.

Consider that line SD is the x-axis, where S is the forwarding node and D is the destination node. In the Most Forwarding within Radius [62] (MFR) protocol node S forwards the packet to the node A that maximizes progress along x-axis.

Geographical Distance Routing (GEDIR) [64] resembles the greedy algorithm, with a subtle difference. Packets are sent to the neighbour node that is closest to destination D, despite the distance of the source node to the destination. This means that a packet can be sent to some node that is actually more distant from D than the sending node S. The rationale for this is that node may have some neighbour which is closer to D than S is. The only kind of loop that may occur in this algorithm is between two consecutive nodes and, therefore, one can make it loop-free.

Many other forwarding schemes have been studied and proposed [7-14]. Examples of nodes chosen using such schemes are shown in Figure 4.2. In all these schemes the location of the final destination (D) is assumed to be known by the source node. The *Most Forward within Radius* (MFR) routing scheme [65] selects M1 as the chosen relay node as it provides the greatest forwarding progress toward the destination, D, within a defined maximum radius  $r_s$ . MFR is a progress-based algorithm competitive in terms of hop count, i.e. designed to offer the lowest number of hops to the destination which also provide minimised end-to-end delay. However, as indicated in [66-69], long distance links are unreliable in reality due to the unpredictability and rapid change of wireless conditions which significantly affect the link quality. Hence the long-hop-distance route selected by MFR may not be viable and may fail.

*Compass Routing* [62], selects node M2 which is closest to the straight line between source and destination, the source node uses the location information of the destination D to calculate its direction. Then the packet is forwarded to the neighbour M2, such that a node closest to the direct SD path is chosen. This process repeats until the destination is eventually reached. The route selected by *Compass Routing* gives the minimised overall distance but may need more hops than MFR.

M3 is selected by the *Nearest with Forward Progress* (NFP) routing [70] scheme as it is the closest node to the source node S while still offering forward progress. The principal aim of this scheme is to minimise the power consumption for each single hop, however it can lead to a large hop count. NFP is not suitable for high density networks because the delay caused by the large number of hop count for the route may exceed system requirements.

M4 is the node choice for *greedy forwarding based* routing [71] which chooses the closest node to the destination, although M4 has less forward progress than M1 which is selected by MFR. All these protocols use position information as the only metric for route decision and ignore link quality. To resolve this problem, an energy-aware geographic routing protocol needs to be specified to choose a relay route which offers low power consumption through use of a relay node with good quality links while also providing adequate progress toward the destination.



Figure 4.2. Examples of Node Choice for Different Geographic Routing Protocols

## 4.2 Energy Efficient Forwarding for Geographic Routing

Many energy based routing protocols have been proposed [72-78] for mobile Ad-hoc networks. An energy-aware geographic routing protocol which aims to reduce the total energy consumption will not only focus on distance-based greedy forwarding, but also the power requirement for selected links which then becomes one of the major metrics for geographic route determination.

The total power consumption of a selected route can be expressed as the sum of powers required for each individual hop as in the Equation 4.1.

$$P_{Total}(d) = \sum_{x=1}^{n} P_{rx}$$
(4.1)

Where  $P_{Total}$  is the total power consumption of the route,  $P_{Tx}$  is the required transmission power for each hop of the selected route which does not include the processing power and n is the number of hops.



Figure 4.3. Forwarding Schemes Comparison with Four Hops (a) Maximum-Distance Forwarding (b) Optimal-Distance Forwarding

(c) Energy-Greedy Forwarding

Examples of routing protocols which seek to reduce energy consumption are shown in Figure 4.3. In this figure, route (a) shows an example of the maximum-distance forwarding scheme for a simple network in which the source and destination are separated by distance d and which assumes a FSPL model for all inter-node hops. The source node finds a relay node closest to the destination within its maximum transmission range  $r_s$  until the final relay node falls within  $r_s$  of the destination. This process provides a minimum hop count, which helps to minimise total energy consumption.

An improved optimal-distance forwarding (ODF) scheme which is also based on a FSPL model is shown in (b). In this case, instead of forwarding the packets to the neighbour closest to the destination or the neighbour which has the maximum forward

progress as in (a), the packets are transmitted to the neighbour which is closest to the energy optimal relay position which can be shown is that for which each hop has an equal distance which in the four hop case shown, is d/4 [78, 79].

Neither of the above schemes takes into account the fact that the actual path loss between nodes is rarely that given by the FSPL model and will actually vary with both node location and time. The effect on the chosen source-destination route of considering variable inter node path loss is shown in route (c) which uses an energy-greedy forwarding scheme with a realistic path loss model. In this case a relay node is selected not only by its location but also by its link quality i.e. the path loss to it, and the total energy consumption of the route is then minimised by selecting the node which has the lowest energy consumption for each hop. This may lead to a longer source-destination path than the above algorithms, but would provide a lower total energy consumption.

If a realistic path loss model is used, the maximum-distance forwarding route (a) may not provide viable links because potentially the path loss to the chosen nodes may be very high. Also the energy optimal relay position (b) may not provide optimized energy consumption for a route because the actual required transit power is determined not only by the distance of the link, but also by the arbitrary path loss which is not identical for each hop. In order to develop an energy efficient geographic routing protocol, the principle of the power requirement between nodes will be studied and analysed.

Note the circles shown in the above figure reflect the maximum transmission distance for the nodes used in route (a). More circles should be drawn around the relay nodes for the other schemes, but are omitted to aid clarity.

### 4.3 The Concept of a Gain Region

## 4.3.1 Geometrically Based Analysis for Transmission Power Reduction

The main criteria influencing the protocol design proposed in this work is energy efficiency, that is the protocol seeks to reduce total power consumption by analysing how energy can be reduced between the source and the destination and defining areas for relay node selection rather than simply using a straight line distance based forwarding scheme. Introducing a model which seeks to minimise power consumption is aided by definition of a new concept called gain region between source and destination. When nodes lying within this region are chosen for relay purposes it can be shown that the total power consumption of a multi-hop route can be lower than the required power for the direct transmission between source and destination. This is shown below by reference to Figure 4.4, for a simple 2-hop route.



Figure 4.4. Two-Hop Example

In Figure 4.4,  $P_t(d)$  is the required transmission power for a direct link from source to destination node.  $P_t(r_1)$  and  $P_t(r_2)$  are the transmission powers for the source and relay node in a 2-hop route respectively. The total power consumption for a two-hop route through a relay node may be lower than that of the direct transmission between source and destination i.e.

$$P_t(r_1) + P_t(r_2) <= P_t(d) \tag{4.2}$$

If certain conditions are satisfied. To determine those conditions consider a path loss model in which the received signal power at distance x from the transmitter can be calculated by:

$$P_r(x) = \frac{P_t G_t G_r}{L} \left(\frac{\lambda}{4\pi x}\right)^{\eta}$$
(4.3)

where  $P_t$  is the transmitted signal power,  $G_t$  and  $G_r$  are the antenna gains of the transmitter and the receiver respectively these gains are assumed to be the same for all nodes in the network,  $\lambda$  is the wavelength, and L is the system loss which are also assumed to be constant for all nodes. The path loss exponent  $\eta$  is environmentally dependent, and is typically in the range of 2 to 5 where 2 is for propagation in free space and the larger values for the path loss in environments such as buildings, stadiums and other indoor environments.

For the definition of a gain region, we assume a power control mechanism is incorporated within each node. This mechanism adapts the transmitted power to the link loss so that the received power at each mobile node  $P_r$  is constant.  $P_t$  is therefore proportional to some power  $\eta$  of the distance between two nodes x. Equation 4.2 then becomes:

$$\frac{P_r L}{G_r G_r} \left(\frac{4\pi r_1}{\lambda}\right)^n + \frac{P_r L}{G_r G_r} \left(\frac{4\pi r_2}{\lambda}\right)^n \le \frac{P_r L}{G_r G_r} \left(\frac{4\pi d}{\lambda}\right)^n \tag{4.4}$$

Where  $r_1$  is the distance between the source and the relay node,  $r_2$  is the distance between that relay node and destination and  $r_1$ ,  $r_2$  and d lie within range  $r_s$ . Then Equation 4.4 can be simplified to,

$$r_1^{\ \eta} + r_2^{\ \eta} \le d^{\ \eta} \tag{4.5}$$

The region between source and destination for which Equation 4.5 is satisfied then defines a gain region. The term gain is used simply to reflect the fact that the circumstances described above can lead to a lower power consumption than the direct transmission route.

The exact boundary and the resulting gain region shape for which a two-hop route from source to destination reduces the total transmit power is then determined by the path loss exponent  $\eta$ .

The simplest gain region can be defined by assuming a model based on free space propagation which is line-of-sight based with the path loss exponent  $\eta = 2.0$ . In this case, the signal strength observed at the receiver is inversely proportional to the square of distance, and Equation 4.5 becomes

$$r_1^2 + r_2^2 \le d^2 \tag{4.6}$$

Equation 4.6 defines a gain region which is represented as a circle of diameter equal to the source-destination distance as shown in Figure 4.5. Outside the region a relay node will not be selected because the total transmission power required for a 2-hop route between source and destination would exceed that for any relay node selected within the gain region and for the direct source-destination transmission.



#### Figure 4.5. Concept of a Gain region

In Figure 4.5,  $P_{sd}$ ,  $P_{sr}$  and  $P_{rd}$  are the transmission power from the source to the destination destination, the source to the relay node and the relay node to the destination respectively. Hence for a FSPL model the gain region defines a region in which transmission from source to destination via a single relay node would provide lower power consumption than direct transmission. Utilising relay node 1 which lies at the edge of the gain region will give the same total required transmission power as that for the direct transmission between source and destination, while utilisation of any other nodes within the gain region, such as relay node 2, would require a lower total transmission power than the direct route.



Figure 4.6. Total Transmission Power in the Gain region 3D

Figure 4.6 illustrates the variation with relay node position of the overall power required for a simple two-hop network. The source and destination are assumed to be 400 meters apart and the power required for the direct link between them is 5mW with the path loss exponent of  $\eta = 2.0$ . Since the 400m distance between the source and destination nodes exceeds the maximum distance requirement according to the 802.11 standard, a relay node between them is then required. The lowest total transmission power or the maximum gain is achieved for a relay node at the position of the centre of the direct line between source and destination which is also the centre of the gain region. The overall power reduction can be evaluated along the directions from the centre of the gain region, which corresponds to the region where hops can decrease the required transmit power. The required transmission power increases rapidly with increasing distance of the relay node from the centre of the gain region. A 2D representation of the total transmission power in the gain region under the same network condition as Figure 4.6 is shown in Figure 4.7 below. The power required for a relay node positioned in the network is then determined by the distance between the node and the centre of gain region



Figure 4.7. 2D Representation of Total Transmission Power in the Gain region

Figure 4.8 shows the gain regions calculated using Equation 4.5 for three different path loss exponents, where the distance between source and destination has been normalized to 1. For larger path loss exponents, the gain region is elongated perpendicular to the direct link direction between source and destination. In Figure 4.8 high path loss exponents which would not be found in practice have been selected to demonstrate the general dependency of the shape of the gain region on the path loss exponent.



Figure 4.8. Gain Regions with various path loss exponents n

#### 4.3.2 Relay Region

Having defined the gain region, a natural extension is to specify a relay region. This can be defined as the overlap of the area covered by a circular region of radius equal to the transmission range and the gain region. The relay region is then shown as the shadow area in Figure 4.9. All nodes falling within the relay region will constitute the source node neighbour table and may, if path loss and battery life permit, be used as a relay node.



Figure 4.9. Relay Region

To minimise the energy consumption for a given route, the number of relay nodes should be limited, because the processing energy at each relay node is a significant contribution to the total energy consumption. The transmission range determines the maximum distance for each hop but there should also be a minimum distance in order to limit the hop count. One approach to defining a modified relay region is that the first relay node falls within a distance  $r_d$  from the destination where

$$r_d = (n-1) r_s$$
 (4.7)

Equation 4.7 implies that n-1 hops are possibly left from the relay region to the destination if we assume a minimum hop count of n. The modified relay region is shown as the shadow area in Figure 4.10.



Figure 4.10. Relay region for Multi-hop Network

Those nodes lying within the relay region would constitute the source node relay table. For multi-hop routes, the process can be repeated by assuming the relay node acts as the new source node as illustrated in Figure 4.11 for a four hop network scenario. Three gain regions and relay regions have been defined by  $r_{d1}$ ,  $r_{d2}$  and  $r_{d3}$  respectively.

$$r_{d1} = 3r_s \tag{4.8}$$

$$r_{d2} = 2r_s \tag{4.9}$$

(4.10)

 $r_{d3} = r_s$ 



Figure 4.11. Multi-hop Network Example

## 4.4 Energy Efficient Relay Node Selection

The energy efficient routing protocol aims to minimize the total energy consumed in forwarding a packet from source to destination. Minimum-energy routing can exploit path loss awareness by forwarding traffic using a sequence of low power transmissions. Having established a process to define a region in which acceptable relay nodes may be found, the process of selecting a node within that region is now discussed. Within the relay region, a relay node will be selected to minimise the total transmission power or maximise node lifetime. The model assumes that all nodes are aware of the location and battery power of neighbour nodes lying within the transmission range, and of the actual path loss to those nodes. This information is gathered through the Hello messages sent periodically through an enhanced signalling process system which will be discussed in details in chapter 6. When a packet needs to be forwarded to the destination node, the source node firstly looks for the destination node within its neighbour table. If the destination node is not in the neighbour table, then a node within the source node's relay table must be selected. The metrics listed below are used to select the relay node.

- Location coordinates determine the distance from the source node to the potential relay node and from the relay node to the destination.
- The actual path loss between source and relay node which also determines the required transmission power of the source.
- The relay node battery level which determines its remaining life time.

Although the gain region can be obtained from the analytical solution based on an ideal FSPL model, the path loss exponent  $\eta$  between any nodes is actually arbitrary and this determines the required transmission power between nodes assuming a fixed receive power level. In order to reduce the total power consumption of the route, links with a smaller path loss are preferentially selected, however the general constraint of minimising the hop count must also be considered.

Mobile node lifetime is constrained by battery power which makes energy efficiency a critical issue. The proposed protocol can either minimise the total power consumption of the route or maximise the life-time of the nodes. The route lifetime can be expressed as the minimum of the lifetimes of its constituent links.

.With these considerations in mind, three possible route selection techniques have been implemented through the use of different metrics and criteria to estimate the link cost.

- Position-based routing which purely uses location information for route determination.
- Power-aware-based routing tries to minimise the total power consumption of the route.

 Battery-life-based routing tries to maximise the life-time for the route and sustain for as long as possible nodes with low battery level as potential relay nodes in the network.

#### 4.4.1 Power Aware Based Routing

For power-aware-based-routing, link cost is calculated locally by the current forwarding node using a sum of the power of the known links and the predicted power requirement of unknown remaining links:

$$P_{(p)} = P_{pt} + P_{pn} \tag{4.11}$$

where  $P_{(p)}$  is the link power for a candidate node.  $P_{pt}$  is the required transmission power from the current node to the candidate node within the relay region which is determined from the actual path loss between them obtained through a Hello message procedure.  $P_{pn}$  is the potential required transmission power which is determined by the distance between the candidate relay node to the destination. The procedure used to determine this value is as follows. The maximum transmission range  $r_s$  of each node is constrained by the limitation of maximum transmission power. The minimum possible number of hops for the remaining distance can then be predicted as:

$$h_n = roundup(d_n / r_s) \tag{4.12}$$

where  $h_n$  is the roundup integer value for remaining hop count,  $d_n$  is the remaining distance to the destination.

Hence the potential power consumption for that distance is calculated using a predefined reference transmission power  $P_{ref}$  which is used to estimate the potential required power for each remaining relay node multiplied by the hop count:

$$P_{pn} = h_n * P_{ref} \tag{4.13}$$

In Equation 4.13, the predefined reference transmission power  $P_{ref}$  is calculated by using Equation 4.3 based on the average hop distance  $d_n/h_n$  for the remaining hops and the FSPL model.

#### 4.4.2 Battery Life Based Routing

Battery-life-based routing can be undertaken by examining the remaining battery level in comparison with the full battery capacity of the mobile nodes.

Battery capacity is determined by the amount of electrical energy the battery can deliver over a certain period of time and is measured in Ampere hours (Ah) when discharged at a uniform rate over a given period of time. When multiplied by the average battery voltage over the discharge cycle the battery capacity becomes watt-hours (Wh). If a potential relay node has a remaining battery level of  $B_{remain}$  (Wh) then the remaining working hours or life-time can be calculated by the equation below:

$$T_{remain} = B_{remain} / p \tag{4.15}$$

where  $T_{remain}$  is the remaining life-time of the battery and p is the transmit power required to reach the next relay node or destination.

The link cost,  $T_{(b)}$ , is described as:

$$T_{(b)} = \arg\min\{T_{bi}, T_{bn}\}$$
 (4.16)

where  $T_{bt}$  is the life-time of the link between the current node to its candidate node and is determined by dividing the remaining battery capacity by the transmission power required to reach the candidate node which can be obtained through received Hello messages.  $T_{bn}$  is the life-time of the link from the candidate node to next relay node which is calculated by dividing the remaining battery capacity  $B_n$  of the candidate nodes by the reference transmission power  $P_{ref}$ .

$$T_{bn} = B_n / P_{ref} \tag{4.17}$$

Once the decision to select the first relay node has been made, the second gain region will then be defined between the first relay node and the destination. The subsequent relay nodes can be chosen by defining a gain region between the current relay node and the destination.

#### 4.5 Simulation and Results for Three-hop Scenario

To simplify the simulation analysis, the network is designed with three hops. Results for a larger number of hops are achievable using the same techniques as in this three-hop network. The proposed routing scheme for the network as shown in Figure 4.12 is modelled and implemented on the OPNET Modeler simulation platform. 240 nodes are randomly deployed on a network of 350m by 350m square. Each node has been assigned a random battery level and a random path loss exponent in the range 2-4, to neighbour nodes. The antenna gains and system loss in (4.3) are set to unity. A frequency of 2.4 GHz is assumed corresponding to the frequency band used in WiFi applications. The gain regions used in the routing protocol are determined as discussed above.



## Figure 4.12. Three-hop network

In order to estimate the performance of the proposed routing protocol, Simulation results were obtained from 30 different path loss exponent assignments. According to the standard, the maximum transmission range for WiFi equipment in open space is about 300 meters and that distance may be reduced to 100 meters in an indoor office environment. An initial maximum transmission range of 140m was used for all the nodes which determines the minimum number of hops for the selected route to be 3.

Routes with more hops could be enforced by using a smaller transmission range or increasing the source to destination distance if required. In order to demonstrate the advantage of the proposed protocol, its performance is compared to a straight-line ODF (Optimum-Distance Forwarding) route based on a conventional geographic routing protocol. The ODF route uses equal distance for each hop and the hop count is determined by the distance between the source and destination and the maximum transmission range. In the results presented in Figures 4.13 to 4.17, the transmission power and route life-time are based on an average of the results obtained from the 30 simulation results.

In the following simulations, the transmission range is varied from 130 to 180 meters to analyse the performance of the proposed routing protocol under different range conditions.



Figure 4.13 Comparison of total transmission power (140m range)

Figure 4.13 shows a comparison of the total transmission power for the selected route determined by the power-aware-based routing scheme, the ODF route and the Optimum Route which has the lowest total power consumption obtained through analysis of all possible end-to-end routes which could be achieved if each node is aware of the link loss to all other nodes. It can be observed that in the ODF route the average total transmission power from 30 simulations is 46.73 mW. However, by introducing the

proposed protocol, the total transmission power of the selected route is decreased to 15.51 mW which is 33.2% of that for the ODF route.

Comparison of the route life-time for the selected route determined by the battery-lifebased routing scheme and for the ODF route is presented in Figure 4.14. The life-time of the ODF route is 3.06 hours whereas that for the selected route has a life-time of 42.4 hours. The increased life-time for the selected route implies an enhanced routing performance provided by the proposed protocol. The significant improvement in route life-time arises because under this protocol a node with high battery level is preferentially selected even though the total route transmission power may not be the lowest under the power-aware based routing protocol. A node with high remaining battery capacity has a greater chance of being selected even if its transmission power may not be the lowest.



Figure 4.14 Comparison of route life time (140m range)

The maximum permitted transmission power determines the transmission range of a mobile node and hence the maximum distance for each hop. The ODF route is not affected by the maximum transmission range if the possible hop count between the source and destination is not affected and remains the same. This is because the required equal distance for each hop won't be affected by the change of maximum transmission range. The ODF route will select the same relay nodes at the same locations under the same hop count. However, the selected route may change as the distance for each link

of the selected route changes according to the transmission range. If the maximum transmission range increases, the size of the relay region between the source and destination node also increases as illustrated by the relay region a 2 shown in Figure 4.15. The increased size of this region provides more candidate nodes and a greater possibility of finding a better route. In effect a relay node for minimised power consumption or maximised lifetime would be selected from a larger number of candidate nodes. The position of the selected relay node then affects the size of subsequent gain regions and the number of candidate nodes within those relay regions.



Figure 4.15 Increased Relay Region Size by Increased Tx Range

As shown in Figure 4.15 with an increased size of relay region a 2 caused by the increased transmission range, there will be a higher possibility to select a relay node which is closer to the destination. In Figure 4.15, the position of the relay node C1 which is selected under a smaller transmission range  $r_{s1}$  determines the relatively small size of relay region  $\beta$  1. In some cases with small transmission range  $r_{s1}$ , the resulting small size of the relay region  $\beta$  1 may lead to there being no candidate nodes within it. Relay node C2 selected under transmission range  $r_{s2}$  defines an increased size of relay region  $\beta$  2 which would contain more candidate nodes for relay selection.



Figure 4.16 Comparison of total transmission power with different transmission range

For a source to destination distance of 350m and a three hop route, Figure 4.16 shows how increasing the transmission range lowers the total transmission power requirement. The power reduction arises from the increased choice of nodes within the gain region. The choice of a relay route lying closest to the straight-line route between source and destination does not on average lead to a lower power transmission range of 170 m the required transmission power utilising power-aware based routing is 9% of that required using the straight line route (ODF). As can be observed from Figure 4.16, with the increment of transmission range the total power consumption of the selected route reduces as the transmission range increases from 130m to 150m. When the transmission range is greater than 150 meters, the results for the selected route are very close to those of the optimum route because the sizes of the gain region becomes large enough for routes with the lowest or nearly the lowest power consumption to be found.

Figure 4.17 shows how increasing the range affects the route lifetime. The increased node choice leads to an increase in the link lifetime and as with the analysis of power transmission, a significant improvement over the lifetimes achievable for the ODF routing is obtained. However, route lifetimes for the ODF route solution are constant

with transmission range changes because its route remains the same under three hops. Relay nodes with longer battery life were found within the larger relay regions determined by the increased transmission range.



Figure 4.17 Comparison of route life time with different transmission range

#### 4.6 Summary

This chapter introduced the development of an energy efficient geographic routing protocol. For comparison several conventional forwarding strategies were discussed together with their relative advantages and disadvantages. The concepts of gain region and relay region were described to exploit the novel features of the proposed energy efficient geographic routing protocol in which candidate relay nodes are defined.

Based on the framework described in Chapter 3, the proposed routing protocol was designed and implemented within OPNET to simulate the energy efficient operation. The routing performance has been analysed in terms of total transmission power and route life time to show the benefit of the energy efficient geographic routing protocol. The proposed routing protocol is shown to provide both power and route lifetime advantage over several established protocols.

# **Chapter 5 Development of Enhanced Energy Efficient Geographic Routing Protocol**

## 5.1 Routing Protocol Improvement through Relay Region Modification

The routing approach EE-GRP discussed in the previous chapter minimises the hop count but can lead to small relay regions. As the relay nodes are selected from within the relay region, the size of the relay region determines the number of nodes which are eligible to act as a relay. A better relay node with lower relay energy consumption can be selected if the number of candidate nodes is increased through use of a larger relay region. As such a modified technique is now described which seeks to ensure adequate size relay regions are used for each hop and thereby produce a more energy efficient performance through hop count optimisation.

An initial step towards defining a new technique is described with the aid of Fig 5.1 which illustrates a new approach to defining the relay region. In the diagram the relay region is the shaded area formed by the overlapping region created by circles of diameter  $r_s$  (the transmission range) drawn from the source node and  $r_d$  (defined below) drawn from the destination node.



Figure 5.1 Gain region for multi-hop network
$r_d$  is the only unknown metric which will determine the size of relay region. The range for the distance of  $r_d$  can be defined as:

$$d - r_s \le r_d \le (n - 1)r_s \tag{5.1}$$

Where *n* is the hop count between the source and destination. When  $r_d$  equals  $(d - r_s)$ , the minimum zero size of relay region would be defined. In this case, a relay node would have to lie on the straight line route between the source and destination at a distance  $r_s$  from the source. This extreme situation is illustrated in Figure 5.2.

The upper limit of  $(n-1)*r_s$  arises from the definition of the minimum hop count under  $n=roundup(d/r_s)$ . The maximum size of relay region defined by the upper limit is shown in Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.2 Limits of  $r_d$  which define the relay region

The size (area) of the relay region shown as the shaded area in Figure 5.1 is given by:

$$S_{relay} = \left(\frac{r_s^2 \theta_1}{2} - \frac{r_s^2 \sin \theta_1}{2}\right) + \left(\frac{r_d^2 \theta_2}{2} - \frac{r_d^2 \sin \theta_2}{2}\right)$$
(5.2)

Where

$$\theta_1 = 2 \times \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{r_s^2 + d^2 - r_d^2}{2r_s d}\right)$$
(5.3)

$$\theta_2 = 2 \times \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{r_d^2 + d^2 - r_s^2}{2r_d d}\right)$$
(5.4)

Then (5.1) can be represented as

$$S_{relay} = \left(\frac{r_s^2 \times 2 \times \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{r_s^2 + d^2 - r_d^2}{2r_s d}\right)}{2} - \frac{r_s^2 \sin\left(2 \times \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{r_s^2 + d^2 - r_d^2}{2r_s d}\right)\right)}{2}\right) + \left(\frac{r_d^2 \times 2 \times \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{r_d^2 + d^2 - r_s^2}{2r_d d}\right)}{2} - \frac{r_d^2 \sin\left(2 \times \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{r_d^2 + d^2 - r_s^2}{2r_d d}\right)\right)}{2}\right)$$
(5.5)

However while the above scheme provides a new model for defining the relay region, in this model, the maximum size for the relay regions provides a relay node choice with lower energy consumption for the first hop only. The remaining hops may have extremely small relay regions which can lead to a situation in which there are no available nodes within the region.

The reason why this problem can occur is now discussed. The maximum width of the first relay region is given by:

$$n \times r_s - d$$
 (5.6)

The problem of a small size being produced for subsequent relay regions can occur when a relay node in the first relay region which is close to the source node is selected. This problem is not significant in three-hop networks, but becomes critical when hop count increases as shown in Figure 5.3. In this figure the first relay region determined by using the criteria defined in Equations 5.1-5.6 is large but the choice of a node lying close to the source in the first region leads using 5.1 - 5.6 to the subsequent regions being too small to support an adequate choice of nodes.



Figure 5.3 Limited Relay Region Size under Minimum Hop Count

In order to achieve the minimised hop count in Figure 5.3, the remaining hops have to satisfy the condition that the distance for each hop is approximately the maximum transmission range. This can only be satisfied in a free space scenario under FSPL model. When a non-FSPL model is applied, the radio signal is degraded more heavily and the maximum transmission range is not achievable. The requirement to minimise the hop count can therefore lead to a relay region which is very small and there may be no candidate nodes within the relay region. If minimum hop count fails, due to the above problem, the hop count can be increased by 1 and the process of defining a region is then undertaken with the new hop count. With an increased hop count, the defined relay region is larger which increases the number of candidate nodes as shown in Figure 5.4. However on the negative side the hop count has now increased.



Figure 5.4 Solution to Limited Relay Region Size Problem - Step I

### 5.2 Optimisation for Relay Region Size

Given the problem just discussed an alternative method of defining the relay region is now proposed. In order to ensure that an adequate number of potential relay nodes will exist for each hop, a system of constraining the size of the relay regions is proposed. The regions are defined such that their areas will provide reasonable probabilities that adequate potential nodes exist for all expected node densities.

For multi-hop routes, the ideal scenario is that each link has the same distance of d/n as shown in Figure 5.5, where d is the distance between source and destination nodes and n is the minimum number of hops under transmission range  $r_s$ .



Figure 5.5 Optimised Size of Relay Region with n hops

Based on Figure 5.5, the optimal distance from the destination  $r_d$  for each hop can be defined as:

$$d_{d} = (remaining \_hop - 2) * d_{av} + r_s$$
(5.7)

Where

$$d_{av} = d/n \tag{5.8}$$



Figure 5.6 Distance from destination for each hop

As shown in Figure 5.6, the new condition for the distance requirement of each hop to the destination is applied which defines a positive forward process for each hop to guarantee packet delivery under the remaining hop count. For example, if the source and the destination nodes are 300m from each other, the maximum transmission range is 90m, the minimum hop count and  $d_{av}$  can be calculated as:

$$n = roundup(300m/90m) = 4$$
 (5.9)

$$d_{av} = 300m/4 = 75m \tag{5.10}$$

The  $d_{min}$  which is the minimum forward distance for each hop can be obtained:

$$d_{\min} = 75 - (90 - 75) = 60m \tag{5.11}$$

By defining the minimum hop distance for each hop, the relay region can maintain a reasonable value.



Figure 5.7 Size Control Mechanism for Relay Region

To illustrate how this revised model of relay region selection improves the node selection opportunities, in Figure 5.7, region I and II are the sizes for the second relay region when nodes R1 and R2 are selected for the second hop respectively. As these two nodes reflect the extreme choices for nodes within the first relay region (R1 being closest to the source and R2 furthest away) the subsequent relay regions produced using them as source nodes reflect the extremes of possibilities. It can be seen that even the smallest region I still has a reasonable area, although the number of nodes that may be contained in the relay region is dependent on the product of the node density and the region area. Region I has the smallest size and this size has to satisfy the condition that

a certain number of candidate nodes can be found within this region. In the simulation, a minimum of 3 candidate nodes were used for this condition of the relay region.

To illustrate the issue, Table 5.1 shows the calculated relay region size for different hop count and transmission range based on the scenario used in Chapter 4 in which there are 240 nodes in the network, the network physical size is  $350X350m^2$  and the distance between source and destination node is 350m. In this scenario the node density is 0.001959 node/m<sup>2</sup> and under such conditions the minimum relay region area needed to provide an average of three nodes is  $1531 m^2$ .

Hops Range	70 m	80 m	90 m	100 m	110 m	120 m
3						288 m <sup>2</sup>
4			171 m <sup>2</sup>	1974 m <sup>2</sup>	4887 m <sup>2</sup>	8689 m <sup>2</sup>
5		1302 m <sup>2</sup>	3795 m <sup>2</sup>	7169 m <sup>2</sup>	11332 m <sup>2</sup>	16236 m <sup>2</sup>
6	1546 m <sup>2</sup>	4046 m <sup>2</sup>	7376 m <sup>2</sup>	11464 m <sup>2</sup>	16270 m <sup>2</sup>	21774 m <sup>2</sup>
7	3382 m <sup>2</sup>	6437 m <sup>2</sup>	10239 m <sup>2</sup>	14753 m <sup>2</sup>	19957 m <sup>2</sup>	25837 m <sup>2</sup>
8	4972 m <sup>2</sup>	8370 m <sup>2</sup>	12480 m <sup>2</sup>	17277 m <sup>2</sup>	22748 m <sup>2</sup>	28883 m <sup>2</sup>

# Table 5.1. Size of Relay Region under Different Tx Range and Hop Count

When the transmission range equals 120m, the source node may theoretically reach the destination within 3 hops and a candidate relay node may be found within a relay region of 288m<sup>2</sup> size. However due to the low density of the nodes and NFSPL, the source node may fail to find a relay node in the relay region under such network conditions. Hence, 3 hops for 120m transmission range in the network are not achievable and 4 hops would be the optimised hop count in this case. When the transmission range was 70m, 5 hops is the minimum theoretical hop count and six hops would provide a relay region area which satisfies the minimum area requirement to support three nodes. However, while based on node density, a minimum area which should contain three nodes can be defined, it was shown during numerous simulation runs (varying node distributions) that owing to the random distribution of nodes, occasionally the number of nodes within the defined region fell below the required number and the experimental simulation results actually showed that the optimised hop route can be found when the relay region size is no less than 3000m<sup>2</sup> which in the latter case of a 70 m transmission range would require 7 hops as the optimised hop count.

Whether a route using a small hop count can be implemented or not depends on the difference between  $n_{min}*r_s$  and d, which is determined by the following metrics.

- Distance between source and destination
- Maximum transmission range of each mobile node
- Node density for the network
- Distribution of the nodes
- Path loss condition of the network

Instead of using maximum-distance forwarding to achieve a minimised number of hops, an improvement to the protocol proposed in this chapter determines an optimal number of hops based on the above metrics and applies the steps below to optimise the route power consumption:

- A determination of the minimum hop count based on source to destination distance and transmission range.
- A determination of the optimal number hop count  $n_{opt}$ . based on node density

Energy efficient routing protocol is launched in response to the requirements for improved energy saving on selected route.

Figure 5.8 shows the flow chart of the enhanced energy efficient geographic routing protocol EEE-GRP routing process. Firstly, the source node or the current node collects the network parameters such as network physical size, number of participating nodes (and so calculates node density), maximum transmission range and path loss conditions between neighbour nodes.



Figure 5.8 Flow Chart of Routing Process

Secondly, an optimised hop count between the current node and the destination node is then calculated based on the previous collected network parameters.

The EEE-GRP protocol will try to use  $n_{min}$  = roundup(d/r<sub>s</sub>) as the optimised hop count initially. The main criterion is the number of candidate nodes within a defined relay region which is determined by the optimised hop count. By using the network parameters collected in the first step. If using  $n_{min}$  as the  $n_{opt}$  could not provide a reasonable size for the relay region,  $n_{min}+1$  will be used for the  $n_{opt}$ . A larger size for the relay region then can be defined which will be evaluated for the number of candidate nodes within the region. The increase of the hop count by one for  $n_{opt}$  will carry on until the defined relay region size satisfies the condition that a certain number of candidate nodes can be found.

Thirdly, a relay region for the current hop will be defined according to the region calculated using the optimised hop count  $n_{opt}$ .

Finally, a relay node will be selected within the relay region to achieve energy efficiency.

#### **5.3 Simulation Results**

Table 5.2 shows the comparison of results of 15 simulation runs for the proposed EEE-GRP protocols with a low (3-4) hop count scenario. The results show the hop count, total transmission power of the selected route and total power consumption of the route which included the processing power of each relay node involved in routing. The processing power normally varies with different products. To simplify analysis, 30mW fixed processing power is assumed in the simulation. The EEE-GRP protocol proposed in this chapter shows the same hop count as that derived using the EE-GRP protocol. However, the total power consumption of the route for the EEE-GRP protocol proposed in this chapter is sometimes higher than the previous proposed EE-GRP protocol defined in Chapter 4. This is because the relay region for the first hop defined by enhanced protocol is smaller than the EE-GRP protocol which results in a lower number of candidate nodes and consequently higher power consumption for some routes. As observed from 15 simulation runs, the average 'Total Tx Power' and 'Total Power Consumption' of the EE-GRP protocol in Chapter 4 are 9.80mW and 107.80mW, while the corresponding figures for the improved protocol are 10.65mW and 108.65mW which are 8.67% and 0.79% higher respectively.

_	EE-GRP				EEE-C	)RP
No. of Simulati on	Hop Count	Total Tx Power (mW)	Total Power Consumption (mW)	Hop Count	Total Tx Power (mW)	Total Power Consumption (mW)
1	3	12.06	102.06	3	12.72	102.72
2	3	7.42	97.42	3	7.42	97.42
3	5	5.38	155.38	5	9.14	159.14
4	3	16.60	106.60	3	16.60	106.60
5	3	14.24	104.24	3	14.24	104.24
6	3	17.48	107.48	3	17.48	107.48
7	4	4.77	124.77	4	6.17	126.17
8	3	8.79	98.79	3	12.01	102.01
9	4	3.82	123.82	4	3.82	123.82
10	3	12.56	102.56	3	12.64	102.64
11	3	9.55	99.55	3	9.55	99,55
12	3	9.45	99.45	3	11.04	101.04
13	3	7.96	97.96	3	7.96	97.96
14	3	10.48	100.48	3	10.48	100.48
15	3	6.42	96.42	3	8.42	98.47
Average	3.27	9.80	107.80	3.27	10.65	108.65

Table 5.2. Simulation Results for Power Consumption with Low Hop-Count

Table 5.3 shows the simulation results for higher hop count scenarios. The improved EEE-GRP protocol performs much better than the previous EE-GRP protocol in terms of hop count. The average 'Total Tx Power' of the EE-GRP protocol is 5.88mW, while the corresponding value for the EEE-GRP protocol is 7.33mW which is 24.66% higher. The benefit of low hop count for the enhanced protocol is obvious when the processing power is taken into consideration for each relay node. The average total power consumption for the enhanced protocol is 161.33mW which is 20.87% lower than that of the EE-GRP protocol.

	EE-GRP				EEE-GI	RP
No. of Simulatio n	Hop Count	Total Tx Power (mW)	Total Power Consumption (mW)	Hop Count	Total Tx Power (mW)	Total Power Consumption (mW)
1	7	6.89	216.89	6	8.23	188.23
2	6	6.42	186.42	5	6.59	156.59
3	7	4.33	214.33	5	10.22	160.22
4	5	6.08	156.08	5	6.08	156.08
5	6	3.66	183.66	5	7.29	157.29
6	8	5.07	245.07	5	6.34	156.34
7	7	4.94	214.94	5	6.25	156.25
8	6	5.23	185.23	5	7.74	157.74
9	6	7.75	187.75	5	4.04	154.04
10	6	3.52	183.52	5	3.86	153.86
11	7	4.90	214.90	5	5.30	155.30
12	6	8.90	188.90	5	4.79	154.79
13	8	4.65	244.65	6	13.45	193.45
14	7	4.87	214.87	5	3.67	153.67
15	7	11.04	221.04	5	16.12	166.12
Average	6.60	5.88	203.88	5.13	7.33	161.33

# Table 5.3. Simulation Results for Power Consumption with High Hop-Count

Table 5.4 shows the comparison of route lifetime in a low hop-count scenario. In this scenario, the hop count of EEE-GRP route is not improved since only a maximum of 4 hops were simulated. EEE-GRP is not able to show its advantage in terms of hop count. While both protocols have the same hop count in the simulation, the enhanced protocol shows no increase for the route lifetime because it defined a limited size for each relay region which is smaller than the relay region size defined by EE-GRP hence a lower number of candidate nodes for each hop. The original EE-GRP protocol has an average

	EE-GRP		EEE-GRP		
No. of Simulati on	Hop Count	Route Lifetime (hour)	Hop Count	Route Lifetime (hour)	
1	3	16.23	3	16.23	
2	3	20.93	3	20.93	
3	4	68.65	4	51.80	
4	3	19.48	3	19.48	
5	3	15.48	3	15.48	
6	3	16.71	3	16.71	
7	3	21.05	3	21.05	
8	3	9.08	3	9.08	
9	3	46.73	3	30.04	
10	3	43.67	3	43.67	
11	3	17.16	3	15.48	
12	3	16.54	3	16.54	
13	3	9.50	3	9.50	
14	3	19.96	3	19.96	
15	3	10.03	3	10.03	
Average	3.07	23.41	3.07	21.07	

route lifetime of 23.41h and the corresponding figure for the EEE-GRP protocol is 21.07h.

#### Table 5.4 Simulation Results for Route Lifetime with Low Hop-Count

Simulation comparison for the route lifetime with a high hop-count scenario is shown in Table 5.5. The improved protocol shows its advantage over the previous EE-GRP protocol in terms of hop-count. The average hop-count of EEE-GRP protocol is 6.13 while the EE-GRP protocol has an average hop-count of 7.47. However the route lifetime of enhanced protocol was lower than the EE-GRP protocol in this case due to the reduction of the hop-count which makes the size of relay region for each hop smaller and hence offers a smaller number of candidate nodes in the relay region. A higher power consumption of the link is normally observed when a relay node is selected from within a smaller number of candidate nodes when an optimised hop count is used to reduce the hop count.

	EE-GRP		EEE-GRP	
No. of		Route		Route
Simulati	Hop Count	Lifetime	Hop Coun	Lifetime
on		(hour)		(hour)
1	8	51.270113	6	50.839003
2	7	49.453564	6	46.8732
3	7	19.865215	6	18.577591
4	7	47.46603	6	42.524534
5	8	35.53968	6	18.986918
6	7	21.997753	6	19.004572
7	7	46.379041	6	37.698785
8	7	43.445248	6	21.576427
9	8	21.31395	6	20.755099
10	8	10.426106	6	7.887186
11	8	10.317595	6	3.875202
12	8	18 <u>.3</u> 97442	7	14.361526
13	7	54.308309	6	33.103751
14	7	37.616751	7	18.680255
15	8	21.640423	6	19.098826
Average	7.47	32.63	6.13	24.92

Table 5.5 Simulation Results for Route Lifetime with High Hop-Count

# 5.4 Summary

à.

This chapter introduced several modifications to an initial model aimed at providing an enhanced energy efficient geographic routing protocol. A hop-count optimization mechanism is developed to determine the optimized hop-count for the route instead of using the minimised hop-count.

The routing performance has been analysed in terms of power consumption and route life time to show the effects of the model revisions. The improved proposed EEE-GRP routing protocol is shown to provide lower hop-count over previous protocol while the energy efficiency is still maintained.

# Chapter 6 Signalling Processes for Geographic Routing Protocol

# 6.1 Introduction

The new geographic routing protocol described in Chapters 4 and 5 requires an improvement of the signalling system for GRP. The signalling process gathers and distributes routing information between all nodes in the network. In this chapter, a signalling process for the new geographic routing protocol is described. The signalling system is simulated and the amount of signalling information is calculated and analysed.

# 6.2 Description of the Signalling Process

Figure 6.1 illustrates a flow chart of signal messages for mobile Ad-hoc networks (MANET) using the proposed geographic routing protocol as described in chapter 4 and 5. Each node will initially broadcast its geographic information to the whole network. On receipt of the flooding message, nodes can then provide a Geographic Table to maintain and update the location information of all the nodes in the network. Hello messages will be sent periodically to the neighbour nodes to help establish and update the neighbour table. A more detailed description of the process involved is now given.



Figure 6.1 Flow Chart of Signal Messages

#### 6.2.1 Initial flooding for co-ordinate distribution

The flooding mechanism performed in the initial stage by all nodes in the network allows the dissemination of co-ordinate information between all the nodes in the network. At the establishment of the network, an 'initial flooding' will be executed to bootstrap the network. It is assumed that each node can determine its own position using a GPS or related location service. In this procedure, each node broadcasts a beacon to the broadcast MAC address, containing only its own identifier (e.g., IP address) and position. Figure 6.2 shows the structure of the MAC address. The first three octets (in transmission order) identify the organization that issued the identifier and are known as the Organizationally Unique Identifier (OUI). The following three octets are assigned by that organization in nearly any manner they please, subject to the constraint of uniqueness. Packets sent to the broadcast MAC address are received by all stations on a hexadecimal network. In the broadcast local area address would be "FF:FF:FF:FF:FF:FF". A locally administered address is assigned to a device by a network administrator, overriding the burned-in address. Universally administered and locally administered addresses are distinguished by setting the second least significant bit of the most significant byte of the address.

As shown in Figure 6.2, if the least significant bit of the most significant byte is set to a 0, the packet is meant to reach only one receiving NIC. This is called unicast. If the least significant bit of the most significant byte is set to a 1, the packet is meant to be sent only once but still reach several NICs. This is called multicast. Instead of broadcasting to all the nodes in the network, the message can be sent to a certain group of nodes. Usually the network administrator determines which node is authorized to join the network [79]. Each authorized node has to manually set up the network parameters which are obtained from the network administrator.



Figure 6.2 Structure of MAC Address

The position is encoded as two four-byte floating-point quantities, for x and y coordinate values. Some initial flooding messages may not be received by every node due to channel collision. The flooding signal may need to be re-transmitted to ensure the successful delivery to every node in the network. The number of initial floods sent out by each node then depends on the size and density of the network. The more nodes and the higher the density of the network, the large the number of initial flooding messages that need to be sent out to ensure all the nodes in the network know the information of each other. The content of a flooding message is as follows in Table 6.1. The size of each flooding message is 13 bytes.

Flooding Message				
Mes. Type My ID (IP) My Location				
1 Byte 4 Bytes 8 Bytes				

#### **Table 6.1 Flooding Message**

At the establishment of the network or when a node comes in and wants to join the network, an 'initial flooding' will be executed once or several times with a random time interval between transmissions to ensure that flooding message can be received by all the nodes in the network. The retransmission of flooding message may be needed due to the nature of the wireless channel which may cause collisions as discussed previously. The number of re-transmissions of the flooding message is determined by the size and density of network, the number of nodes, the mobility of nodes and the network traffic load. Each node sends out its flooding message to its neighbour nodes and those nodes that successfully receive that flooding message will broadcast to their neighbour nodes as well. Multiple copies of the same flooding message may be received by some of the nodes, but only one copy will be re-broadcasted, others will be discarded. It was observed empirically that the flooding message needs to be sent three times to enable the flooding message to be received by every node in the network for simulated network scenarios.

A limited hop count can be applied to the flooding message in order to reduce the signalling overhead caused by short distance transmission. The hop count is then determined by the size of the network and the maximum transmission range of each node.

A time slot scheme for the flooding message may help to reduce the signalling overhead. Each node sends out its message at particular time slot to avoid collusion. But in mobile Ad-hoc networks, synchronization is a major challenge unless a centralized server is provided to support synchronization of all the nodes in the network.

# 6.2.2 Geographic Table

Instead of using a routing table, a geographic routing protocol uses a geographic table to store the location information of all the nodes in the network. When a node receives a flooding message from another node, it incorporates the data into its geographic table which takes the form shown in Table 6.2. The geographic table is updated when nodes that change position send out a new flooding message. This process will be discussed later.

Geographic Table					
ID Location Time Stamp					
4 Bytes 8 Bytes 2 Bytes					

Table 6.2 Geographic Table

#### 6.2.3 Hello messages Broadcast

Hello messages are used to periodically provide all nodes with basic information about the neighbour nodes with which they have contact. Each node transmits a Hello message to the network broadcast address, containing only its own identifier (its IP address) and position. Through the Hello message process, each node determines the set of other nodes within direct communication range (within one hop). A simple Hello message structure as shown in Table 6.3 can be the same as the Flooding Message while the 'mes. Type' will distinguish the type of message. More information such as the position information of neighbour nodes can be provided to help routing determination. The time interval between Hello messages is normally determined by the following parameters:

The density of the nodes. The Hello messages from a node only affect its neighbour nodes. With a large network density, each node generally has more neighbour nodes. In this case, Hello messages will be sent out less frequently in order to reduce the interference.

The traffic load, when the traffic load increases, Hello message interval should become larger which means less Hello messages are sent out to reduce the signalling overhead and increase the network throughput.

The mobility of nodes. When a node moves away from its original position, it changes the connectivity with its neighbour nodes. Hence the Hello messages need to be sent out to inform its neighbour nodes. The faster the node moves, the more frequently Hello messages are sent out.

Hello Message					
Mes. Type My ID My Location					
1 Byte 4 Bytes 8 Bytes					

#### Table 6.3 Hello message

Hello Message					
Mes. Type	My ID	My Location	Battery Level		
1 Byte	4 Bytes	8 Bytes	1 Byte		

Table 6.4 Hello message with Battery Information

#### 6.2.4 Neighbour Table Establishment

Any nodes which lies within the maximum transmission range of a source node and are able to receive packets from it successfully are the neighbour nodes of the source node. By receiving Hello messages from neighbour nodes, each node will establish a Neighbour Table as shown in Table 6.5.

Neighbour Table					
One-Hop Neighbours					
ID	ID Location Validity Time				
4 Bytes 8 Bytes 1 Byte					

#### Table 6.5 Neighbour Table

Upon not receiving Hello message from a neighbour for a period longer than the validity time interval, a node assumes that the link to the neighbour is lost, and deletes the neighbour from its table. The IEEE 802.11 MAC layer also gives direct indications of link-level retransmission failures to neighbours which can be interpreted identically. To maintain local connectivity, Hello messages are periodically sent out to neighbour nodes.

# 6.2.5 Position Request

If the position information of the destination node is not included or valid in the neighbour table of the source node, a position request will be executed to help find the location of the destination. That request will be broadcasted through the network. Any nodes which contains the location information of the destination node will reply to the source node.

# 6.2.6 Flooding for Position updates

When a node moves, it can determine the distance it moves from its original location using GPS data. If the node has moved more than a predefined distance, then it will broadcast a co-ordinate message to the whole network to update its new position. The reason to define a distance threshold is to reduce the signalling overhead caused by coordinate messages. The distance threshold is defined based on the density and size of the networks and the mobility of nodes.

# 6.2.7 Forwarding

When a source node wants to communicate with a destination node, it firstly checks its neighbour table to see if the destination node is its neighbour. If so, it sends the packet to the destination directly. However, if the destination node is not its one-hop neighbour, a routing decision needs to be made to find a relay node within its neighbour table, which lies closer to the destination than the source node.

Geographic routing protocols usually follow a scheme based on the shortest distance to the destination. Each node that receives the data packet considers which of its neighbour nodes is closest to the destination and selects that neighbour to forward the packet to. To avoid loops, neighbour nodes that have already been traversed are omitted. Many such forwarding strategies have been proposed. Examples of which are discussed in chapters 2 and 4.

All those Geographic Forwarding schemes must meet the following basic requirements:

- Each node has a unique ID which is known to all the nodes throughout the network.
- Using GPS as an alternative positioning system, each node determines its location in the form of latitude and longitude.
- Each node periodically broadcasts a 'Hello' packet to its radio neighbours informing them of its ID, its current location and velocity.
- Each node maintains a local database containing its current neighbour IDs and geographic locations.

# 6.2.8 Face Routing

Greedy forwarding can lead into a dead end, where there is no neighbour closer to the destination. Then, face routing [80-83] helps to recover from that situation and find a path to another node, where greedy forwarding can be resumed. A recovery strategy such as face routing is necessary to ensure that a message can be delivered to the destination. The combination of greedy forwarding and face routing was first proposed in 1999 under the name GFG (Greedy-Face-Greedy) [84]. As shown in Figure 6.3 below a message is routed along the interior of the faces of the communication graph, with face changes at the edges crossing the S-D-line. The final routing path is shown in blue.



Figure 6.3 Example of Face Routing

#### 6.3 Enhanced Signalling Messages

In conventional geographic routing protocols, a node will only send out its own location through Hello messages. However the signalling messages may require further neighbourhood information, which is reflected in the contents of messages sent by nodes when they, change activity status, react to topological changes, or simply periodically send update messages. A Hello message may contain, in addition to its own ID, its position and a list of one-hop neighbours. Other content is also possible, such as a list of one-hop neighbours with their positions and battery levels, a list of two-hop neighbours etc.

More detailed information for example a list of two (or more) hop neighbours can help to improve the routing efficiency as illustrated in Figure 6.4 below. In this example, node A and B are both candidate relay nodes for transmission of data for node S to node D. A protocol which simply identifies node position would select node A as the relay node since it is closer to destination node D than node B. However Node A may have no connection with D and to reach node D requires one more hop through node C. Node B may have direct connection with D and the route through node B will have one hop less than the route through node A. This route could only be chosen if the relevant neighbour data had first been communicated and established in the routing table of node S.



Figure 6.4 Final hop problem

An example of the neighbour table for node S is shown in Table 6.6. This table maintains and updates the location information of all nodes in the network.

	Geographic Table					
ID	Location	Validity Time				
Α	(X <sub>A</sub> , Y <sub>A</sub> )	T <sub>A</sub>				
В	$(X_B, Y_B)$	Т <sub>в</sub>				
С	$(X_C, Y_C)$	Tc				
D	$(X_D, Y_D)$	T <sub>D</sub>				

# Table 6.6 Neighbour Table for Node S

By receiving a simplified Hello messages as described in Table 6.3, nodes S establishes its routing table for node A and B as shown in Table 6.7. However, the routing information about node D is not included in the routing table which may cause the problem as discussed early.

	Routing Table S					
	One-Hop Neighbors					
ID	ID Location Battery Level Link Validity Time Quality					
А	$(X_A, Y_A)$	B <sub>A</sub>	QA	T <sub>A</sub>		
В	(X <sub>B</sub> , Y <sub>B</sub> )	B <sub>B</sub>	Q <sub>B</sub>	T <sub>B</sub>		

# Table 6.7 Improved Routing Table for Node S

In order to develop an energy efficient geographic routing protocol, other content is also possible in Hello message in addition to its own ID and position, such as a list of onehop neighbours with their battery levels and positions. An example of an enhanced Hello message as shown below in Table 6.8 contains the battery information which can be used as one of the criteria for routing decision.

	ł	lello	Message				
Mes.Type	Mes. Type My ID My Location Battery Level						
1 Byte	4 Bytes		8 Bytes	1 Byte			
	Ne	ighb	ouring Table				
ID	Location	n	Battery Level	Link Quality			
4 Bytes	8 Bytes		1 Byte	1 Byte			

#### Table 6.8 Improved Helio message

The link quality is then estimated by measuring the power level of the received Hello message. The status of battery level and link quality can be updated through periodic Hello messages. An improved neighbour table which contains the link quality for one hop neighbours is shown in Table 6.9.

Neighbour Table					
One-Hop Neighbours					
ID	ID Location Battery Level Link Quality Validity Time				
4 Bytes 8 Bytes 1 Byte 1 Byte 1 Byte					

#### Table 6.9 Improved Neighbour Table I

In order to select the proper route to node D, routing information about two-hop neighbours is needed as shown in Table 6.10.

		Neighbo	our Table				
		One-Hop N	Veighbours		<u></u>		
ID Location Battery Level Link Quality Validity Time							
4 Bytes 8 Bytes 1 Byte 1 Byte 1 Byte							
		Two-Hop 1	Neighbours				
ID Location Battery Level Link Intermediate Valic Quality node Tin					te Validity Time		
4 Bytes	4 Bytes 8 Bytes 1 Byte 1 Byte 4 Bytes 1 Byte						

Table 6.10 Improved Neighbour Table II

By using enhanced Hello message, node A and B send out more information which includes its neighbouring table as shown in Table 6.11 and 6.12.

Hello Message A						
Mes. Type My ID My Location Battery Level						
Hello	Hello A (X <sub>A</sub> ,Y <sub>A</sub> )					
	Ne	eighbouring Ta	able			
ID	Locatio	n Battery	Level Link Quality			
C $(X_c, Y_c)$ B <sub>c</sub> Q <sub>c</sub>						
S	(X <sub>S</sub> ,Y <sub>S</sub> )	В	R <sub>s</sub> Q <sub>s</sub>			

#### Table 6.11 Hello message for Node A

As shown in Table 6.11 for the Hello message from node A, only node C and S are in the neighbouring table since the node D has no direct connection with node A.

Hello Message B							
Mes. Type	Mes. Type My ID My Location Battery Level						
Hello	В	(X <sub>B</sub> ,Y <sub>B</sub> )	B <sub>B</sub>				
	Neig	hbouring Table					
ID	Location	Battery Level	Link Quality				
С	$(X_c, Y_c)$	B <sub>c</sub>	Q <sub>c</sub>				
S	Bs	Qs					
D	$(X_D, Y_D)$	Bp	Q				

# Table 6.12 Hello message for Node B

From the Hello message from node B as shown in Table 6.12, routing information for node D can be found which will help node S to select route to node D. The final neighbour table for node S is shown in Table 6.13, from which node S can find the route to D with a minimised hop count.

	Neighbour Table S						
	One-Hop Neighbors						
ID Location Battery Level Link Validity Time Quality							
А	A $(X_A, Y_A)$ B <sub>A</sub> Q <sub>A</sub> T <sub>A</sub>						
В	B (X <sub>B</sub> , Y <sub>B</sub> ) B <sub>B</sub> Q <sub>B</sub> T <sub>B</sub>						
		Two-Hop	Neighbors				
ID	ID Location Battery Level Link Intermediate Validity Quality node Time						
C $(X_{c}, Y_{c})$ B <sub>c</sub> Q <sub>c</sub> A T <sub>c</sub>					T <sub>c</sub>		
D	$(X_D, Y_D)$	B <sub>D</sub>	Q <sub>D</sub>	В	T <sub>D</sub>		

Table 6.13 Neig	hbour Table	of	Node S
-----------------	-------------	----	--------

By utilizing the enhanced signalling messages, all the nodes are able to obtain full detailed routing information for their two-hop neighbours which will help facilitate a routing decision. An example for a network with 11 nodes is shown in Figure 6.5 below.



Figure 6.5 Network Scenario with 11 Nodes

The black arrow lines show the connectivity of the nodes. Hello messages are periodically sent out by each node which contain the information of the node itself and its neighbours. At the beginning of the network, the Hello message may only contain the information of the node itself because no information from its neighbours has been received yet and such information can be updated later. Tables 6.14 to 6.16 show the final version of Hello messages of node A, D and H respectively with full neighbour information.

۰.

Hello Message A						
Mes. Type	My ID	Battery Level				
Hello	A	$(X_A, Y_A)$	B <sub>A</sub>			
Neighbouring Table						
ID	ID Location Battery Level					
В	$(X_B, Y_B)$	B <sub>B</sub>	Q <sub>B</sub>			
С	$(X_{c},Y_{c})$	B <sub>c</sub>	Q <sub>c</sub>			
E	$(X_E, Y_E)$	B <sub>E</sub>	Q <sub>E</sub>			
К	(X <sub>K</sub> ,Y <sub>K</sub> )	B <sub>K</sub>	Q <sub>K</sub>			

#### Table 6.14 Hello message of Node A

Hello Message D						
Mes. Type My ID My Location Battery Le						
Hello	D <sub>.</sub>	$(X_D, Y_D)$	B <sub>D</sub>			
Neighbouring Table						
I₽*	ID Location Battery Level					
В	(X <sub>B</sub> ,Y <sub>B</sub> )	B <sub>B</sub>	Q <sub>B</sub>			
С	$(X_c, Y_c)$	B <sub>c</sub>	Q <sub>c</sub>			
F	$(X_F, Y_F)$	B <sub>F</sub>	Q <sub>F</sub>			
<u> </u>	(X <sub>t</sub> ,Y <sub>t</sub> )	B	Q			

#### Table 6.15 Hello message of Node D

	Н	ello Message H				
Mes. Type My ID My Location Battery Level						
Hello	н	В <sub>н</sub>				
	Ne	ighbouring Table	·			
ID	Locatior	n Battery Level	Link Quality			
F	$(X_F, Y_F)$	B <sub>F</sub>	QF			
ł	(X <sub>1</sub> ,Y <sub>1</sub> )	B	Q			

# Table 6.16 Hello message of Node H

By receiving Hello messages from its neighbours, a node updates its neighbour table for routing purposes. The neighbouring table information from received Hello messages is then classified into 'One-Hop Neighbours' and 'Two-Hop Neighbours' and is stored in the neighbour table. Such a neighbour table is kept updated by obtaining the latest information from periodic Hello message mechanism. Tables 6.17 to 6.19 show the Neighbour tables of node A, H and D respectively.

	Neighbour Table A						
		One-Hop	Neighbours				
ID	Location	Battery Level	Link Quality	Validi	ity Time		
В	(X <sub>B</sub> , Y <sub>B</sub> )	B <sub>B</sub>	Q <sub>B</sub>		Т <sub>в</sub>		
С	(X <sub>C</sub> , Y <sub>C</sub> )	B <sub>C</sub>	Q <sub>c</sub>		T <sub>C</sub>		
E	E (X <sub>E</sub> , Y <sub>E</sub> ) B <sub>E</sub> Q <sub>E</sub> T <sub>E</sub>				T <sub>e</sub>		
К	(X <sub>K</sub> , Y <sub>K</sub> )	Β <sub>κ</sub>	Qĸ		T <sub>k</sub>		
		Two-Hop	Neighbours				
ID	ID Location Battery Level Link Relay Node Validity Time Quality						
D	(X <sub>D</sub> , Y <sub>D</sub> )	B <sub>D</sub>	Q <sub>D</sub>	С	Τ <sub>D</sub>		
G	$(X_G, Y_G)$	B <sub>G</sub>	Q <sub>G</sub>	C	T <sub>G</sub>		
J	(X <sub>J</sub> , Y <sub>J</sub> )	Bj	Qj	В	Τj		

#### Table 6.17 Neighbour Table of Node A

	Neighbour Table H						
	One-Hop Neighbours						
ID	ID Location Battery Level Link Validity Time Quality						
F	$(X_F, Y_F)$	B <sub>F</sub>	Q <sub>F</sub>		T <sub>F</sub>		
I	(X <sub>1</sub> , Y <sub>1</sub> )	Bi	Qı		TI		
	_	Two-Hop	Neighbours				
ID	Location	Battery Level	Link Quality	Relay Node	Validity Time		
D	D $(X_D, Y_D)$ B <sub>D</sub> Q <sub>D</sub> I T <sub>D</sub>						
G	G (X <sub>G</sub> , Y <sub>G</sub> ) B <sub>G</sub> Q <sub>G</sub> I T <sub>G</sub>						
J	$(X_J, Y_J)$	Вյ	QJ	F	رT		

Table 6.18 Neighbour Table of Node H

Neighbour Table D								
One-Hop Neighbours								
ID	Location	Battery Level	Link Quality	Validity Time				
В	(X <sub>B</sub> , Y <sub>B</sub> )	B <sub>B</sub>	Q <sub>B</sub>	Τ <sub>Β</sub>				
C	$(X_C, Y_C)$	Bc	Q <sub>c</sub>	Τ <sub>C</sub>				
F	$(X_F, Y_F)$	B <sub>F</sub>	Q <sub>F</sub>	T <sub>F</sub>				
Ι	(X <sub>1</sub> , Y <sub>1</sub> )	Bi	Qı	T,				
Two-Hop Neighbours								
ID	Location	Battery Level	Link Quality	Relay Node	Validity Time			
Α	$(X_A, Y_A)$	B <sub>A</sub>	Q <sub>A</sub>	В	T <sub>A</sub>			
Е	(X <sub>E</sub> , Y <sub>E</sub> )	B <sub>E</sub>	Q <sub>E</sub>	С	T <sub>E</sub>			
G	(X <sub>G</sub> , Y <sub>G</sub> )	B <sub>G</sub>	Q <sub>G</sub>	I	T <sub>G</sub>			
Н	(X <sub>H</sub> , Y <sub>H</sub> )	B <sub>H</sub>	Q <sub>H</sub>	I	Т <sub>н</sub>			
J	$(X_{j}, Y_{j})$	BJ	Qj	F	Tj			
K	(X <sub>K</sub> , Y <sub>K</sub> )	Βκ	Qĸ	В	Τ <sub>κ</sub>			

#### Table 6.19 Neighbour Table of Node D

With the enhanced signalling message scheme, full detailed routing information for all the nodes in the network can be established as shown in Table 6.19 for the neighbour table of node D.

# 6.4 Simulation & Results Analysis

#### **6.4.1 Simulation Scenario**

Five routing protocols namely Ad-hoc On-Demand Distance Vector (AODV), Dynamic Source Routing (DSR), Optimized Link State Routing (OLSR), Geographic Routing Protocol (GRP) and the Enhanced Energy Efficient Geographic Routing Protocol (EEE-GRP) are simulated and compared in this session to show their performance in terms of routing signalling overhead by looking at the amount of routing traffic overhead generated and the transmission delay.

The EEE-GRP is developed by using an improved Hello message type as shown in Table 6.20 which contains the location information of neighbour nodes to assist routing

decision. After receiving the improved Hello message from neighbours, each node establishes a routing table for its one-hop and two-hop neighbours.

		Hello Message		
Mes. Type	MyID	My Location	Battery Level	
1 Byte	4 Bytes	8 Bytes	1 Byte	
	Ne	eighbouring Table		
ID	Loc	cation	Battery Level	
4 Bytes	8 Bytes		1 Byte	

Table 6.20 Improved Hello message

#### **6.4.2 Signalling Processes for other Routing Protocols**

In this section, the major signalling processes for AODV, DSR and OLSR protocols are introduced. A comparison of simulation results follows this section.

#### 6.4.2.1 Signalling Processes for AODV

#### **Route discovery**

The AODV [26] model implements the complete set of route discovery mechanisms: broadcasting route requests (RREQ), creating a reverse path while forwarding RREQ, route replies (RREP) by intermediate nodes or destination node, and creating a forward path while forwarding RREP. Rate limit, maximum number of retries, and exponential backoff between each retry during the route discovery are also implemented.

#### Maintaining sequence numbers

The AODV model maintains sequence numbers to avoid loops during route formation or update. Each node maintains a sequence number that is updated accordingly while receiving AODV control packets.

#### **Hello messages**

A node offers link connectivity information by broadcasting local Hello messages. Only the nodes that are part of an active route use Hello message. Every HELLO\_INTERVAL seconds, each node checks whether it has sent a broadcast within the last HELLO\_INTERVAL seconds. If not, it broadcasts a Hello message.

# Maintaining local connectivity

Each forwarding node maintains its continued connectivity to its active next hops. If a node doesn't receive any packet (Hello or otherwise) from a neighbour within

ALLOWED\_HELLO\_LOSS  $\times$  HELLO\_INTERVAL seconds, it assumes that the link to the neighbour is lost. The following protocols also have the same parameter for the Hello message process.

#### **Route maintenance**

Each AODV routing table entry is associated with a route expiry timer. This timer is calculated during the route discovery process. The timer is refreshed with each packet using that route entry. If a route is not used for more than ACTIVE\_ROUTE\_TIME seconds, it is marked INVALID and cannot be used for forwarding packets. An active route can also be marked INVALID after detecting a link break (next hop connection failure). A route is deleted from the routing table only DELETE\_PERIOD seconds after it has been marked invalid.

#### Route reply by intermediate node

During route discovery, an intermediate node having a "fresh enough" route to the destination can send a reply to the source. This feature can be switched off by enabling the DESTINATION ONLY flag. With this flag set, only the destination node can reply to a route request.

#### Gratuitous route reply

In order for a destination to learn of routes to the originating node, the originating node sets a "gratuitous route reply" (G) flag in the route request. If an intermediate node replies to a route request having the G flag set, it also unicasts a gratuitous route reply to the destination node.

#### **Expanding ring search**

To prevent unnecessary network-wide dissemination of route requests, originating nodes use the expanding ring search technique. In this technique, the originating node initially uses a TTL equal to TTL\_START in the route request IP header and sets the timeout for receiving a route reply to RING\_TRAVERSAL\_TIME seconds. In case of timeout without a route reply, the originator broadcasts the request again with TTL incremented by TTL\_INCREMENT. This continues until TTL reaches TTL\_THRESHOLD, beyond which TTL is set to NET\_DIAMETER (network-wide broadcast) for each attempt. There is a limit on the maximum number of attempts,

determined by the Route Request Retries attribute, as set in the Route Discovery Parameters.

# Local repair

When a link break occurs in an active route, the node upstream of the break can attempt to repair the link locally if local repair is enabled on that node. During the local recovery, the node buffers the currently undeliverable packet and starts a route discovery for the destination node. Local repair attempts are often invisible to the originating node.

# 6.4.2.2 Signalling Processes for DSR

# **Route Discovery** [27]

The DSR model implements the complete set of route discovery mechanisms comprising of broadcasting route requests to find a route and receiving route replies with a specific route to the destination.

# **Route Maintenance**

As DSR is designed for mobile networks, route maintenance is done to verify whether the next hop along the source route is reachable. The complete set of route maintenance mechanisms comprising of sending acknowledgement requests and receiving acknowledgements is implemented.

# **Route Cache**

Each node maintains a route cache comprising of routing information in the network. The route cache is implemented as a "path cache" where the node maintains a set of paths to each destination. The node chooses the route with the least number of hops to the destination.

# **Replying to Route Requests using Cached Routes**

A node can reply to a route request for which it is not the destination, by searching its own route cache for a route to the destination of the route request.

# Non-propagating route request

DSR implements a "non-propagating" route request mechanism where the route request is broadcast only to the immediate neighbours of the node performing route discovery. This request is not re-broadcasted by the neighbours. If one of the neighbours is the destination or has a route to the destination of the request, it would send a reply. If the node performing route discovery does not receive a reply within a certain period, it times out and sends out a "propagating" route request which is broadcasted to the entire network.

#### **Packet Salvaging**

When an intermediate node forwarding a packet detects that the next hop for the packet is broken, if the node has an alternative route to the destination of the packet, the node "salvages" the packet by sending it along this alternative route

#### **Automatic Route Shortening**

The route used by a packet may be automatically shortened if one or more of the intermediate nodes in the route become no longer necessary. This may happen when a node operating in promiscuous mode receives a packet in which it is not the next hop, but is named in the unexpended portion of the route. The node can then remove the nodes that are no longer needed before itself in the source route.

# 6.4.2.3 Signalling Processes for OLSR

#### MPR flooding mechanism [40]

The OLSR model implements the MPR (Multi Point Relay) flooding mechanism to broadcast and flood Topology Control (TC) messages in the network. The algorithm is implemented as suggested in OLSR RFC 3626. This mechanism takes advantage of controlled flooding by allowing only selected nodes (MPR nodes) to flood the TC message. Each node selects an MPR to reach its two-hop neighbours.

#### Neighbour sensing mechanism

The OLSR model implements the neighbour sensing mechanism through periodic broadcast of Hello messages. These Hello messages are one-hop broadcasts (never forwarded) that carry neighbour type and neighbour quality information. The neighbour sensing mechanism provides information on up to two-hop neighbours. Generation and processing of the Hello messages are implemented as suggested in the OLSR RFC.

#### Topology discovery/diffusion mechanism

Periodic and triggered Topology Control (TC) messages implement the topology discovery/diffusion mechanism in the OLSR model. TC messages are generated by MPR nodes and carry information about MPR selector nodes. These messages are diffused throughout the network using controlled flooding, thus helping to form a topology for each node with its reachable nodes and previous hop information.

OLSR maintains several tables to store the link, neighbour, two-hop neighbour, and topology information. All table entries are associated with an expiry time. Some of the entries implement an active timer (scheduling an interrupt) and some use the lazy method (not scheduling a specific interrupt with each entry) to remove the old information.



#### 6.4.3 Simulation for the routing protocols

Figure 6.6 Simulation Scenario

Figure 6.6. shows the simulation scenario contains 50 nodes randomly deployed in a 350X350m<sup>2</sup> network. The Free Space Path Loss (FSPL) model was used in the

simulation to represent the path loss. The transmission power is 0dBm (1mW) for all the nodes and the receiver sensitivity is -95dBm. Packets with a power less than this threshold are not sensed and decoded by the receiver. Hence, such packets are not detected by the receiver through its physical sensing mechanism. The packets whose received power is higher than this threshold are considered as valid packets. They are sensed by the MAC and are recorded as being received successfully unless the BER due to interference, background noise and/or collision with other valid packets is higher than a specified threshold. The maximum transmission range was 150m for each node and all the nodes are static although the power settings in this simulation enable a valid transmission distances in excess of 500 meters between transceivers. Any nodes separated more than 150m will not be able to communicate directly with each other even if the path loss is below the threshold. This function is achieved by using the 'The Dynamic Receiver Group configuration' object within OPNET as shown in Figure 6.7. This function computes receiver groups, which are the set of possible receivers with which a node can communicate. This configuration object specifies:

- the criteria (channel match, distance threshold, and pathloss threshold) used to determine which receivers belong to a receiver group
- when the groups are used

R

• how often group membership is computed

By restricting the set of possible receivers, the number of transmissions sent out by the nodes in the network can be reduced as well as the simulation runtimes. The decrease in simulation speed depends on the following factors:

- Number of possible neighbours for each node with respect to the total number of receivers
- Number of re-computations during the simulation (refresh interval)

Group	Receiver Selection Parameters	
	Selection Parameters	
	- Channel Match Criteria	Strict Match
	- Distance Threshold (meters)	150
	- Pathloss Threshold (dB)	None

Figure 6.7 MANET RX Group Config

By setting up the maximum transmission range in the simulation, multi-hop routes with no more than three hops were observed in the following simulations. In order for the OPNET software to calculate signalling bits as packet rate, it is necessary for the source and destination nodes to be assigned and data packets to be generated as traffic between these nodes. The MANET traffic generator as discussed in chapter 3 is used to generate various data rates. The packet inter-arrival time specified as uniform(2.0, 2.5) generates packets at the source node every 2 to 2.5 seconds with a step size of  $10^{-6}$ s. The probability density function for a uniform distribution on the interval [a, b] is

$$P(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } x < a \\ \frac{1}{b-a} & \text{for } a \le x \le b \\ 0 & \text{for } x > b \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

The actual parameters used for the traffic generation in this simulation are as follows.

Hello message interval: each node broadcasts a Hello message to all its neighbours every hello interval seconds. In the simulation, all the nodes will send out a Hello message after every Hello message interval. A constant value for the hello interval would result in a large number of collisions between the Hello message protocols. It is therefore appropriate to establish a degree of probability in hello packet generation. To avoid synchronization of neighbours' Hello messages, as observed by Floyd and Jacobson [85], each message's transmission is jittered by using the uniform distribution function based on a defined Hello message interval. The transmission delay for a Hello message of 13bytes for the GRP protocol at 11Mbps data rate is 9.45µs and theoretically a maximum number of 105769 Hello messages can be sent out each second. In this simulation, 50 Hello messages are generated every second by 50 nodes in the network which need a minimum time of 482µs. The parameter uniform (0.9, 1.0) is therefore used for the Hello message interval to generate random values between 0.900000 and 1.000000 to provide sufficient different transmission times for each Hello message to ensure the collision probability is significantly low to avoid the need for multiple hello packet transmissions.

As stated earlier, the packet inter-arrival time is used for generating random outcomes for times between successive message packet generation. The packet inter-arrival time is defined in order to simulate the route request for reactive routing protocols such as AODV and DSR. In those protocols, a routing decision needs to be made for each generated data packet which requires the routing information to be regularly updated. A timely update for the network topology and link connectivity is therefore needed through the periodic Hello message exchange. With high mobility of the nodes, Hello messages are required to be sent out more frequently in order to provide instant routing information, however in this simulation all nodes are static. A uniform (1.0, 1.5) is initially used for the packet inter-arrival time based on the previous hello interval setting which is uniform (0.9, 1.0). The uniform (0.5, 1.0) and uniform (0.25, 0.5) are also used to simulate an increase in the packet generation rate which subsequently affects the signalling overhead of the network.

The following data parameters are also used in the simulation:

- Packet Message size (bits): a constant 1024 bits is used for the packet size [86, 87].
- Neighbour Expiry Time (seconds): constant 2s. If a Hello message is not received from a neighbour node within the neighbour expiry time, which is 2 seconds in this simulation, the node is not considered a neighbour anymore.
- Number of Initial Floods: 3 times. Flooding messages may get lost due to channel collisions and the routing information carried within that message would then not be obtained by all the nodes in the work. For example, in a GRP network all nodes exchange position information with each other through the flooding messages. If the source node is not aware of the position of the destination node, a position request message needs to be sent out in order to update that information. Through initial testing, it was shown that information convergence could be established using a maximum of three initial floodings, after which all the nodes were able to share information with every node. Following this flooding, no position request message was sent out.
- Physical Data rate: 11Mbps. A lower data rate could be used but this may result in collisions occurring due to the longer transmission time when sending packets. This would degrade the network performance.
- The source and destination of each transmission are selected randomly.

By using the parameters above for the traffic generation, the transmission delay for a data packet of 1024bits at 11Mbps data rate is  $931\mu$ s which means the maximum number of packets which can be sent out within a one second period is 10742.

# 6.4.3.1 Discussion of the signalling process for on demand and proactive routing protocols

AODV and DSR are both on demand protocols in which route information is discovered only as needed. The route is normally determined by route latency and a route with the shortest time (lowest latency) will be selected.

In the DSR protocol, the entire path to the destination is supplied by the source in a packet header that utilizes an extension header following the standard IP header [27]. Route discovery is undertaken when a source needs a route to a destination. The source node broadcasts a Route Request message for the specified destination. Each intermediate node adds itself to the path in the message and forwards (broadcasts) the message towards the destination. The destination node unicasts the Route Reply message which contains the complete path built by intermediate nodes to the source. Intermediate nodes cache overheard routes to reduce the need for route discovery. A Route Reply may be returned to the source by the intermediate node if it already has a path stored. In a single query-reply cycle, the source node learns a route to each intermediate node in the route in addition to the destination node. Each intermediate node also learns the route to other nodes on the route. Promiscuous listening also helps nodes to learn the route to every node on the route.

For the AODV protocol [26], the route discovery procedure is undertaken whenever a node needs a "next hop" to forward a packet to the destination. The source node then broadcasts a Route Request (RREQ) message for the specified destination. The intermediate node forwards (broadcasts) the message toward the destination and creates a next-hop entry for the reverse path to the source, to use when sending a reply. After the destination node receives the message, it unicasts a Route Reply (RREP) message to the source which contains the sequence number and hop-count field. Each intermediate node creates a next-hop entry for the destination as the RREP is received identified as a forward along "reverse path" hop. There is no source routing or promiscuous listening for AODV, as such AODV relies on a route discovery flood more often than the DSR protocol, and so generates more signalling overhead than DSR which benefits from cached overhead routes stored in intermediate nodes.

Being a proactive protocol, OLSR inherits the stability of a link state algorithm and has the advantage of having routes available immediately when required due to its proactive
nature [40]. OLSR is optimized over the classical link state protocol and is tailored for mobile Ad-hoc networks. It discovers and maintains the routes to all destinations within the network so the routing information is immediately available when required. The protocol uses Hello and Topology Control (TC) messages to discover and then disseminate link state information throughout the mobile ad-hoc networks. Individual nodes use this topology information to compute the next hop destinations for all nodes in the network, using shortest hop forwarding paths. Topology information is exchanged with other nodes of the network regularly. Each node selects a set of its neighbour nodes as "multipoint relays" (MPR). In OLSR, only nodes, selected as such MPRs, are responsible for forwarding control traffic, intended for diffusion into the entire network. OLSR minimizes the overhead from flooding of control traffic by using MPRs to retransmit signalling messages. This technique significantly reduces the total number of retransmissions required to flood a signalling message to all nodes in the network.

As a proactive routing protocol, geographic routing has the advantage of low signalling overhead when compared with other routing protocols. This is shown in the results presented in this section which examines the signalling overhead for some different protocols. The protocols considered are the Optimized Link State Routing Protocol (OLSR) based on Link State Routing (LSR), Ad-hoc On-Demand Distance Vector Routing (AODV), Dynamic Source Routing protocol (DSR), Geographic Routing protocol.

The basic concepts of OLSR, AODV and DSR were discussed in details in early chapters, but are summarised here to aid the discussion. In Link State Routing, each node periodically floods the status of its links and rebroadcasts link state information received from its neighbours. Every node keeps track of link state information received from other nodes. This information is then used by each node to determine the next hop to each destination.

A general characteristic comparison of those routing protocols is shown in Table 6.21.

Characteristic	DSR	AODV	OLSR	GRP
Routing Philosophy	Reactive	Reactive	Proactive	Proactive
Type of Routing	Source routing	Hop-by-hop routing	Hop-by-hop routing	Hop-by-hop routing
Frequency of Updates	As needed	As needed	Periodically	Periodically
Worst case	Full flooding	Full flooding	Pure link state	Full flooding
Multiple routes	Yes	No	No	No

Table 6.21 Comparison of Mobile Ad-hoc Routing Protocols

#### 6.4.4 Simulation Results Analysis

A series of signalling rates for 5 routing protocols (ADOV, DSR, OLSR, GRP and EEE-GRP) were obtained through simulation. The results were compared and analysed in the following sections.

#### 6.4.4.1. Traffic Source Packet Inter-arrival time: uniform (1.0, 1.5)

As shown in the Figure 6.8 below, AODV has the highest signalling rate. Although AODV and DSR are both reactive routing protocols, DSR has much lower routing traffic overhead than AODV and has access to greater amount of routing information than AODV. As indicated in the previous section, DSR uses routing cache aggressively, and maintains multiple routes per destination. DSR uses route replies to all requests reaching and determining a route to a destination from a single request cycle. The source node learns many alternative routes to the destination, which is useful when the primary route fails. This saves the overhead of a new discovery flood which would otherwise be required. With the packet inter-arrival time equal to uniform(1.0, 1.5), DSR achieved the lowest signalling overhead, even lower than the proactive routing protocols.

AODV uses one route per destination. It maintains at most one entry per destination in the routing table. The destination node only replies once to the request arriving first and ignores the rest.



Figure 6.8 Comparison of Signalling Traffic (bits/sec) for Different Routing Protocols

The GRP protocol achieved the second lowest signalling overhead of all the routing protocols. There are 50 nodes in the network and each node generates a Hello message following the uniform (0.9, 1) distribution. The size of Hello message after IP encapsulation is 55 bytes for this protocol as shown in Figure 6.9 below.



Figure 6.9 Packet Format for IP\_dgram\_V4

Therefore the signalling overhead for GRP can be calculated using the formula below:

Maximum Rate: 50 \* (1/0.9) \* 55 \* 8 = 24444 bits/s (6.2)

Minimum Rate: 
$$50 * 1 * 55 * 8 = 22000$$
 bits/s (6.3)

Where the maximum rate for the GRP signalling overhead is obtained when the Hello message interval is equal to 0.9s and the minimum rate is obtained when the Hello message interval is equal to 1s. The average rate is then calculated below:

Average Rate: 
$$(24444+22000)/2 = 23222$$
 bits/s (6.4)

The EEE-GRP protocol which is developed based on GRP has much higher signalling overhead than GRP due to the larger size of the Hello message. The enhanced Hello message contains the neighbour information as described previously. Each neighbour node will add 13 bytes into the size of the Hello message for its location information. Below in Table 6.22 shows the number of neighbour nodes that are contained in the Hello messages for EEE-GRP routing protocol in this simulation with the transmission range of 150m for all the nodes.

Cumulative Total Number of Neighbour Nodes in the		
Hello message		
Extra Hello message Size for All the Nodes (Bytes)	13910	
Average Number of Neighbour Nodes for Each Node	21	
Average Extra Hello message Size for Each Node (Bytes)	278	

#### Table 6.22 Number of Neighbour Node for Hello messages

The simulation collected the number of neighbours for each node within 150m transmission range and determined the Hello message size based on that. The cumulative total number of neighbour nodes in the Hello messages for all the nodes is then obtained by summing of the number of neighbours for all the nodes. The extra Hello messages size for all the nodes is obtained by using the total size of Hello messages for all the nodes deducting the total size of simple Hello messages which is 55 bytes for each node. Since there are 50 nodes in the network, the average number of neighbour nodes for each node and the average extra Hello message size for each node were then obtained by the total number divided by 50 nodes.

Therefore the signalling overhead for EEE-GRP can be calculated using the formula below:

Maximum Rate: (50 \* 55 + 13910) \* 8\* (1/0.9) = 148089 bits/s (6.5)

Minimum Rate: 
$$(50 * 55 + 13910) * 8 * 1 = 133280$$
 bits/s (6.6)

Where the maximum rate for the EEE-GRP signalling overhead is obtained when the Hello message interval is equal to 0.9s and the minimum rate is obtained when the Hello message interval is equal to 1s. The average rate is then calculated below:

Average Rate: 
$$(148089+133280)/2 = 140685$$
 bits/s (6.7)

The results for average signalling overhead sent by the five established routing protocols (AODV, DSR, OLSR, GRP, EEE-GRP) with a packet inter-arrival time uniform(1.0, 1.5), are shown below in Figure 6.10. The average rates for signalling overhead were obtained by dividing the total routing traffic sent during the simulation time by the simulation time. AODV leads to a typical average signalling packet rate of 400kbit/s. This relatively high signalling rate arises from the continuous flooding of the route request messages through the network. AODV relies on a route discovery flood more often than other routing protocols, and so generates more signalling overhead. As we can see from the results, the average rates for GRP and EEE-GRP routing protocols is slightly different from the theoretical results above, this is due to the uniform distribution function used for Hello message generation which means the Hello messages are not sent out constantly and variable rates are applied.



### Average Routing Traffic Sent (bits/s)

Figure 6.10 Comparison for Average Signalling Overhead Sent (bits/sec)

The difference between GRP and EEE-GRP arises from the simplified Hello messages used by GRP compared with the enhanced Hello message type used by EEE-GRP which contains more detailed information that can be used as one of the criteria for routing decisions in addition to its own ID and position. In this simulation, the average routing traffic sent by EEE-GRP is 140,799bits/s while GRP has 23,628bits/s of that.

There are certain criteria which affect the Hello message size within the EEE-GRP protocol such as the maximum transmission range of each node, the density of the network and path loss model used in the network.

To examine the effects of increased routing traffic on the signalling overhead, the packet inter-arrival time is reduced and results for these changes are presented below.

#### 6.4.4.2. Traffic Source Packet Inter-arrival time: uniform (0.5, 1.0)

Figure 6.11 below shows the results for routing traffic with a uniform (0.5, 1.0) for the Traffic Source Packet Inter-arrival Time which increases the packet generation rate. Being proactive routing protocols, with a higher packet generation rate, AODV and DSR generate higher signalling overhead.. The result for GRP, EEE-GRP and OLSR remains almost the same as shown in the previous results. This arise because the total signalling messages sent out for GRP, EEE-GRP and OLSR are only affected by the Hello message intervals not the packet generation rate. Since the Hello message intervals were the same as used in previous simulation, the results for GRP, EEE-GRP and OLSR and OLSR also remain nearly the same. GRP achieved a lower signalling overhead than the other routing protocols.



Figure 6.11 Comparison of Signalling Overhead Sent (bits/sec)

The results for the average signalling overhead sent for all the routing protocols at packet inter-arrival time uniform(0.5, 1.0) are shown below in Figure 6.12. As we can see from the results, GRP, EEE-GRP and OLSR retained a similar signalling rate to the previous simulation whereas the other two reactive routing protocols had higher signalling rates.



#### Average Routing Traffic Sent (bits/s)

Figure 6.12 Comparison for Average Signalling overhead Sent (bits/sec) II

### 6.4.4.3. Traffic Source Packet Inter-arrival time: uniform (0.25, 0.5)

The signalling rates for Traffic Source Packet Inter-arrival Time with uniform (0.25, 0.5) which increases the packet generation rate are shown in Figure 6.13. As expected, the AODV still had the highest signalling rate. The signalling overhead for DSR increased with the increase in the packet generation rate. As proactive routing protocols, GRP, EEE-GRP and OLSR maintained similar results as before with the same Hello message rates used for the earlier simulations.



Figure 6.13 Comparison for Signalling overhead Sent (bits/sec)

The comparison for average routing traffic sent by all the routing protocols considered is shown below in Figure 6.14. The signalling overhead for DSR was the lowest when packet inter-arrival time is uniform (1.0, 1.5). However, when a higher packet generation rate was used, the signalling overhead for DSR increased and exceeded that of GRP and OLSR. For the packet inter-arrival time with uniform(1.0, 1.5), the average data rate can be obtained by using the following equation.

$$1024*50*1/((1.0+1.5)/2) = 40,960 \text{ bit/sec}$$
 (6.8)

Where the average packet rate is 1/((1.0+1.5)/2), each packet is 1024bits and there are 50 nodes in the network, hence the average rate is 40,960 bits/sec at packet inter-arrival time with uniform(1.0, 1.5).

As the packet inter-arrival time reduces from uniform(1.0, 1.5) to uniform(0.25, 0.5), more data packets are generated. The data rate increases from 40,960bits/sec to 136,533bits/sec.

It can be seen that the routing signalling overhead for the AODV and DSR increases rapidly with the increase of the packet inter-arrival whereas the signalling overhead in GRP, EEE-GRP and OLSR changes little as shown in Figure 6.16. This is expected because of its nature of the reactive protocols used in AODV and DSR. Large overhead is expected as more data packets are generated with reduced packet inter-arrival time resulting in increasing route discovery signalling.



Figure 6.14 Comparison for Average Signalling Overhead Sent (bits/sec)

Though both AODV and DSR are reactive protocols, the routing overhead of AODV is much greater than that of DSR due to following reasons [88-91]. AODV is a timer based scheme which updates its cache irrespective of the route being valid or stale, if that route is not used for a certain period of time which is 3 seconds in this simulation. After this period, a route which is not used and refreshed will be marked as invalid and then be removed from the routing table. However, if a network is highly dynamic, a small value for this attribute is preferred to remove stale routes quickly. DSR is not timer based and it will update its route information in the cache on detection of a link breakage. AODV maintains only the next hop per destination. DSR maintains multiple routes per destination. DSR gathers more information whereas AODV has limited access to information and finally the overhead is high in AODV due to the absence of promiscuous listening. As DSR adopts this feature it can save multiple routes in its cache, which results in a low generation of overhead.

# 6.4.4.4 Effects of variation of transmission range on signalling overhead for the EEE-GRP protocol

As with the analysis done chapters 4 and 5 it is instructive to consider the effects of varying the transmission range on the average signalling overhead sent by EEE-GRP and results for this analysis are presented in this section.



Figure 6.15 Average Number of Neighbour per Node for EEE-GRP

Figure 6.15 above shows the average number of neighbours per node under different transmission range from 70 to 150m. With the decrease of transmission range, the average number of neighbour per node is also reduced. With a FSPL model, the average number of neighbours per node was 21 with transmission range of 150m while this figure dropped to 6.1 when the transmission range reduced to 70m. The reduction of the average number of neighbours per node didn't follow a square law as the coverage of each node does. This is because the nodes which lie near the boundary of the network have fewer neighbour nodes than the nodes which lie in the centre of the network. When a Non-FSPL model is used, the average number of neighbours per node was 5.3 with a transmission range of 150m which is 75% lower than that with FSPL model. This figure was down to 1.4 with a transmission range of 70m and some nodes have no neighbours in this case.

The average signalling overhead sent by EEE-GRP under different transmission range from 70 to 150m is shown below in Figure 6.16. The size of Hello message for EEE-GRP is reduced when the transmission range decreases. The lower average signalling rates can be observed with smaller transmission range. When the transmission range reduced from 150m to 70m, the average signalling rate drops by 59.1% from 141kbit/s to 58kbit/s with FSPL model. With NonFSPL model, the average signalling rate at 150m transmission range is 51kbit/s which is only 35.9% of found in with the FSPL model. The average signalling rate drops by 41.2% from 51kbit/s at 150m range to 30kbit/s at 70m range. As we can see from the results, the network performance under a smaller transmission range can achieve a much lower signalling rate. However, with the reduction of the transmission range, the number of neighbours of each node decreases which can limit or even prevent a route being found. During the simulation under an even smaller transmission range than 70m, some nodes were observed that had no neighbours within their coverage range and those nodes were isolated from the network. The hop count between the source and destination nodes also increases. The power consumption of the selected route is higher with a higher hop count, therefore, more relay nodes may be required and higher total energy consumption may be observed. An optimised transmission range may be discovered to provide the balance between hop count and energy consumption and this aim is studied in the later section.



Figure 6.16 Comparison of Average Signalling Overhead Sent by EEE-GRP

#### 6.4.4.5. Simulation Results with Various Traffic Patterns

In this section, different values for the traffic generation parameters have been used and simulated to study the performance of EEE-GRP for a 50-node network. Different data rates for the data traffic with different packet sizes and packet inter-arrival time were simulated and analysed. In Figure 6.17, different packet sizes were used from 1k to 12k bits while the packet inter-arrival time remained uniform(1.0, 1.5). Results showed that all the routing protocols maintained similar results for the signalling overhead under different packet sizes. As reactive routing protocols, AODV and DSR send out routing traffic for each generated data packet the signalling overhead for AODV and DSR is determined by the number of packets generated rather than the size of the packet. However if the packet size becomes too large there would be an increased probability of collision during transmission of the large packets. Packets which are larger than the maximum allowed data size need to go through a fragmentation process to split into several smaller packets. Proactive routing protocols like OLSR, GRP and EEE-GRP send out routing messages periodically independently of the data traffic. So that their signalling overhead remains similar under different packet sizes.





To examine the effect of higher packet generation rate rather than the use of larger packets, Figure 6.18 shows the results for signalling overhead with different packet inter-arrival time while the packet size remained a constant 1024 bits. The packet inter-arrival time changed from uniform(1.0, 1.1), uniform(0.75, 0.85), uniform(0. 5, 0.6) to uniform(0.25, 0.35) and more packets were generated accordingly. As reactive routing protocols, AODV and DSR send out more signalling overhead when more data packets are generated as can be seen by the increasing trend shown in Figure 6.20. For example, an inter-arrival time of uniform(0.25, 0.35) generated 1.58 times more packets/sec than uniform(1.0, 1.1) for AODV and 2.57 times for DSR.

OLSR, GRP and EEE-GRP send out signalling messages periodically and as a consequence the signalling overhead is little affected by increasing the packet interarrival time.



Figure 6.18 Comparison of Average Signalling Overhead Sent with Different Packet Inter-arrival Time

#### 6.4.4.5. Simulation Results with Different Node Density and Path Loss Models

In order to further evaluate the performance of EEE-GRP, a series of simulation results were collected under different node densities. The physical size of the network remains the same as  $350X350m^2$ . The total number of nodes in the analysis varies from 25, 50, 100 to 150. The same routing parameters as in the previous simulation were used. The packet inter-arrival time follows uniform(1.0, 1.5) and the maximum transmission range was 150m. A realistic non free space path loss model as described in earlier chapters was also used to compare with the results obtained with FSPL model.



Figure 6.19 Simulation Scenario with 25 Nodes

Figure 6.19 shows a network with 25 randomly deployed nodes. The results with FSPL and NonFSPL model are shown in Figure 6.20 and 6.21 respectively. For all protocols in the NonFSPL scenario, each node has fewer neighbour nodes than in the FSPL scenario which influences the signalling overhead observed.

The GRP protocol still gives the lowest signalling overhead in both scenarios and the while the overhead for AODV changed little and remained the highest. The routing traffic sent out by DSR increased when the path loss changed from FSPL to NonFSPL because the number of neighbour nodes was reduced in the NonFSPL scenario which means DSR obtained less routing information from neighbours when compared with FPSL scenario. As a result more signalling messages had to be sent out by DSR to obtain the relevant routing information.

The signalling overhead for OLSR also slightly increased due to reduced number of neighbour nodes within the transmission range in the NonFSPL scenario. More MPRs were selected in this case which generated more signalling traffic.



Figure 6.20 Signalling Rate Comparison for 25 Nodes with FSPL Model





In Figure 6.22, the number of nodes was doubled to 50 nodes. The number of neighbours for each node was generally increased in both FSPL and NonFSPL scenarios.



Figure 6.22 Simulation Scenario with 50 Nodes

From the results shown in Figure 6.23 with FSPL model and Figure 6.24 with NonFSPL model, a similar trend to that observed in the previous simulation was observed. GRP and AODV are still the lowest and highest in signalling overhead. Routing traffic sent by DSR and OLSR increased accordingly in NonFSPL scenario while it dropped heavily for EEE-GRP.



Figure 6.23 Signalling Rate Comparison for 50 Nodes with FSPL Model



Figure 6.24 Signalling Rate Comparison for 50 Nodes with NonFSPL Model

The total number of nodes was increased to 100 as shown in Figure 6.25. A NonFSPL model wasn't applied in this network due to the long simulation time required for AODV and DSR. We observed that AODV and DSR suffered from the high node density and their signalling overhead became higher than other routing protocols.



Figure 6.25 Simulation Scenario with 100 Nodes

As we can see from the results shown in Figure 6.26, DSR couldn't cope with dense network and its routing traffic became even higher than AODV. The signalling overhead of GRP is only affected by the number of nodes, so it increased proportionally with the higher node density. OLSR and EEE-GRP also showed a notable increase in routing traffic. However, lower signalling for EEE-GRP is expected with a NonFSPL model while other routing protocols except GRP will have higher routing traffic.



Figure 6.26 Signalling Rate Comparison for 100 Nodes with FSPL Model

Figure 6.27 shows the results of average routing traffic sent at different node density and transmission range for EEE-GRP.



Figure 6.27 Results Comparison with Various Node Density & Tx Range for EEE-GRP

With the increase of network density, the routing traffic sent in the network increased rapidly. The average routing traffic sent by the network is the highest among different node densities with a transmission range 140m because the size of Hello message is large due to the increased number of neighbours for each node. When NonFSPL is used instead of the FSPL model, the network sent out less routing traffic due to the smaller size of the Hello messages needed for fewer neighbour nodes.

As shown in previous results, the signalling overhead became very high in a high density network. However, this problem could be resolved by optimizing the size of the Hello message through an intelligent neighbour node selection method. In such a scheme only a certain number of candidate nodes will be selected among a large number of neighbours using more specific criteria such as the location of the nodes, the quality of the link etc.

#### **6.5** Conclusion

In this chapter, signalling processes for the proposed routing protocol are introduced. With the enhanced signalling system, the routing protocol is able to obtain more information to assist routing determination. The simulation results showed that the signalling overhead can be reduced significantly when the transmission range reduces which reduces the number of neighbours for each node. Simulation results also gave a comparison of the overhead required for the proposed protocol (EEE-GRP) with that of other established protocols under a variety of different network conditions. The proposed protocol is seen to require lower signalling overhead than AODV in all circumstances and compares favourably with other protocols under a variety of network conditions in particular in NonFSPL path loss scenarios.

#### **Chapter 7 Conclusions and Future Work**

#### 7.1 Conclusions

Mobile Ad-hoc networks have attracted growing research interest over the last 10 years as they offer a flexible means of communication without the need for fixed infrastructure. This will have advantages for applications including communications for the emergency services, military communications, conferences, vehicular and ship to ship communication.

Chapter 2 reviews the state of the art in mobile Ad-hoc networks and the underlying wireless technologies upon which they are based. A key feature of Ad-hoc networks is that individual nodes can act as relays to support multi-hop transmission between source and destination nodes which requires each node to have a routing capability. A summary of existing proactive, reactive, hierarchical and geographic protocols is presented. Geographic protocols have the advantage that they use knowledge of the location of the nodes to simplify the search for a route from source to destination. It is noted that there is growing interest in the use of geographic protocols because the cost of location identification using GPS technology is falling, so that it is now feasible to include this capability in wireless Ad-hoc network nodes. A number of geographic protocols have been proposed for Ad-hoc networks but these protocols use position information as the only metric and ignore link quality. They seek a path with the smallest number of hops or the shortest distance but do not take account of energy consumption. As wireless nodes, particularly mobile nodes, are battery operated, energy consumption is an important factor. The primary objective of this thesis, therefore, is to develop an energy efficient geographic routing protocol for mobile Ad-hoc networks.

Chapter 3 introduces the OPNET Modeller simulation software tool that is used to simulate the Ad-hoc network. This tool is an event driven simulator that includes 802.11 wireless models and also several of the most common routing protocols used for Ad-hoc networks. The software can also be adapted to include new features and functions specific to this project. The default path loss model in OPNET is the free space model. This has been adapted to include a random path loss model to provide a more accurate analysis of the power required to communicate between each node. The routing

protocols developed in this project have also been modelled using OPNET so that the performance can be analysed and compared to existing protocols.

Chapter 4 describes a new, energy efficient geographic routing protocol (EE-GRP). This scheme seeks to find the lowest power route from source to destination. The principle of this protocol is that multiple short hops may require a lower transmission power than a single long hop. If every possible route were to be analysed, then the processing would be very complex, so this protocol reduces the number of routes analysed by using a 'gain region' and a 'relay region', identified using knowledge of the location of nodes obtained from GPS units in each node. If a node in the gain region is used as a relay node, then the transmission power from source to destination using this relay can be less than that of a direct link to the destination. The relay region can then be defined for relay node selection according to the distance requirement from the source and destination node. For longer links, multiple relay nodes can be located on a hop by hop basis. Each relay node requires power for processing and so the lowest power end to end route is a balance between the reduced transmission power and the increase in processing power for multiple hops.

An OPNET model has been developed to simulate the performance of the EE-GRP protocol. The model uses a 350m x 350m size network with 240 randomly located nodes. The end to end transmission power for the selected route has been calculated and compared to the power that would be required for the route that would be selected by a conventional geographical routing protocol. The results show that, for a transmission range of 140m, the routes selected by the EE-GRP protocol require 33% of the transmission power required by the conventional geographical routing protocol.

It is shown that the power saving scales with the transmission range because if the transmission range increases then the number of nodes in the gain region increases which increases the number of possible routes that are analysed. So for a transmission range of 170m the EE-GRP protocol only requires 9% of the transmission power required by the conventional geographical routing protocol.

Moreover, a random battery level model is applied for each mobile node when the lifetime metric is used to evaluate the routing performance. This time the EE-GRP

shows its greater advantage in that the lifetime increases by a factor of 14 over the conventional geographic routing protocol.

The disadvantage of the EE-GRP protocol is that it in order to maintain the hop count from the source to the destination the protocol can lead to a very small gain region, which limits the number of nodes available for choice as a relay node. This may not enable the lowest energy route to be found and sometimes fail to find a relay node. Chapter 5 describes an enhanced energy efficient geographic routing protocol (EEE-GRP) which sets a minimum forward distance for each hop which ensures that the relay region does not become too small based on an optimised hop count obtained from a hop count decision mechanism. In addition, based on the density of nodes in the network, the number of hops is calculated to give at least three nodes in the relay region.

Results of network simulations using OPNET Modeller indicate that the energy consumption due to the transmission power for routes using the EEE-GRP protocol is slightly larger than the EE-GRP protocol for routes with a small number of hops (3-4 hops). For routes with larger hop counts (5-8 hops), the EEE-GRP protocol again selects routes with a slightly higher energy consumption due to node transmission power, but it has the advantage that the selected routes have a smaller number of hops. This is important because the overall energy consumption comprises the transmission power and the processing power of each node in the route, and the processing power is typically an order of magnitude larger than the transmission power. So when the processing power of each node is included in the total energy calculation, then the overall energy consumption can be reduced by approximately 20% using the EEE-GRP protocol compared to the EE-GRP protocol. This leads to a corresponding increase in the time a route can function on a single battery charge.

The new routing protocol proposed in this thesis requires a new signalling process to distribute the required information between the nodes in the network. Chapter 6 analyses the signalling requirements for the proposed protocol. Each node initially floods the network on a beacon channel to broadcast a node identifier and the coordinate information. Simulation indicates that this information should be repeated three times to cope with possible collisions and ensure all nodes receive the information. Each node broadcasts a Hello message to its neighbour nodes at regular intervals. This message includes battery level and link quality information. A key feature is that it sends information about itself and its neighbour nodes. Each node then builds a table of one hop neighbours and two hop neighbours which is used to establish the optimum route.

OPNET modeller has been used to analyse the amount of signalling data required for the new signalling process proposed in this thesis for EEE-GRP and this has been compared to the signalling required for other Ad-hoc routing protocols (AODV, DSR, OLSR, regular GRP). The results show that AODV requires the largest amount of signalling information and DSR and regular GRP the lowest (about 20 times lower). EEE-GRP requires approximately seven times more signalling data than DSR and regular GRP. This is because of the extra information required in the Hello message to find the most energy efficient route. If the traffic source packet inter-arrival time is reduced (e.g. more packets are generated), then the signalling for the reactive protocols increases, but the signalling for the proactive protocols, including EEE-GRP, stay constant.

The average signalling overhead was studied under different network traffic load to evaluate the performance of the proposed protocol. Although the amount of signalling required to implement the EEE-GRP routing protocol is larger than some of the other protocols, the amount of energy used to provide this signalling is relatively small (approximately 10%) compared to the energy required for the data transmission in the same period during the simulation. The signalling messages used a constant transmission power while the transmission power for the data traffic can be further reduced according to the path loss information obtained from the signalling process. So the benefits gained from the reduced energy required for the traffic transmission outweighs the increase due to signalling. So overall the energy consumption of the EEE-GRP protocol is lower than other protocols.

#### 7.2 Original Contributions

The original contributions presented in this thesis are as follows:

1) A new geographical Ad-hoc network routing protocol has been developed which uses the concept of a gain region to minimise the energy consumption of the route from source to destination using relay nodes. The energy consumption using this protocol is shown to be 30% of a conventional geographical routing protocol. 2) An improvement to the proposed routing protocol has been designed to ensure the gain region does not become too small. The enhanced protocol reduces the number of hops and hence the overall energy consumption of the selected routes is reduced.

3) A new model has been developed for the EE-GRP protocol using OPNET Modeller to simulate the network performance.

4) A non-free space path loss model has been included in the simulation model with a random loss between each node in the network.

5) A new signalling process has been proposed for use with the proposed new geographical Ad-hoc routing protocols.

6) The energy consumption and lifetime of the route for the EEE-GRP protocol has been calculated and analysed and it is shown to be lower than that of other Ad-hoc network geographic routing protocols.

#### 7.3 Future Work

Further work could be carried out in the following areas:

1) A prototype network using the proposed routing protocol can be constructed and evaluated to check that the benefits predicted by the simulation can be realised in practice.

2) The analysis described in chapter 6 compares the signalling performance of the new geographical routing protocol to the existing non-geographical protocols (DSR, AODV and OLSR). A similar comparison can be carried out for the data transmission performance.

3) Wireless nodes cannot transmit and receive at the same time, so the throughput of multi-hop routes is affected by the number of hops in the route. The proposed EEE-GRP protocol can be extended to include the calculation of throughput as an additional metric for selecting the optimum route.

#### Reference

- [1] Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF) Mobile Ad-hoc Networks (MANETs) Working Group Charter, <u>http://www.ietf.org/html.charters/manetcharter.html</u>.
- [2] J. Jubin and J.D. Tornow, *The DARPA Packet Radio Network Protocols*. proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 75, no. 1: p. 21-32, January 1987.
- [3] Z.J. Haas and S. Tabrizi. On Some Challenges, and Design Choices in Ad-hoc Communcations. In Proceedings of the IEEE Military Communications Conference (MILCOM). Bedford, MA, October 1998.
- [4] D. L. Nielson B. M. Leiner, and F. A. Tobagi, *Issues in packet radio network design.* in Proceedings of the IEEE, Volume 75, Issue 1: p. 6-20, Jan. 1987.
- [5] J. Elson A. Cerpa, D. Estrin, L. Girod, M. Hamilton, and J. Zhao. Habitat monitoring: Application driver for wireless communications technology. In Proceedings of the 2001 ACM SIGCOMMWorkshop on Data Communications in Latin America and the Caribbean, April 2001.
- [6] G. J. Pottie and W. J. Kaiser, *Wireless Integrated Network Sensors*. Communications of the ACM, 43(5): p. 51-58, 2000.
- [7] W. Su I. Akyildiz, Y. Sankarasubramaniam, and E. Cayirci, *A survey on sensor networks*. IEEE Commun. Mag., 40(8): p. 102-114, 2002.
- [8] D. R. Cayan J. D. Lundquist, and M. D. Dettinger. Meterorology and hydrology in yosemite national park: A sensor network application. In Proc. 2nd International Workshop on Information Processing in Sensor Networks, 2003.
- [9] R.Ramanathan and J.Redi., A brief overview of ad-hoc networks: challenges and directions. IEEE Communication Magazine, 50th Anniversary Commemorative, Issue: 20-22, May 2002.
- [10] Jun-Zhao Sun, Mobile Ad-hoc Networking: An Essential Technology for Pervasive Computing. Info-tech and Info-net, vol. 3: p. 316-321, 2001.
- [11] J. Jannotti J. Li, D. De Couto, D. Karger, and R. Morris, A scalable location service for geographic ad-hoc routing. In in Proceedings of the 6th ACM International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking (MobiCom ' 00), August 2000.
- [12] H Pucha SM Das, YC Hu. Performance Comparison of Scalable Location Services for Geographic Ad-hoc Routing. In Proc. of IEEE INFOCOM, 2005.

- [13] L. M. Feeney, *Measuring the energy consumption of an IEEE 802.11 network interface.* tech. rep., Sweedish Institue of Computer Science, 1999.
- [14] A Chandrakasan R Min, Mobicom poster: top five myths about the energy consumption of wireless communication. Mobile Computing and Communications, 2003.
- [15] P Nagpurkar S Gurun, BY Zhao, Energy consumption and conservation in mobile peer-to-peer systems. Mobishare'06, September 2006.
- [16] Y Yuansheng W Liang. Maximizing battery life routing in wireless Ad-hoc networks. In Proceedings of the 37th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2004.
- [17] Z Liu A Sankar, Maximum lifetime routing in wireless Ad-hoc networks. IEEE INFOCOM, 2004.
- [18] OPNET Modeler, OPNET Technologies, Inc.
- [19] IEEE Std. 802.11, Part 11: Wireless LAN Medium Access Control (MAC) and Physical Layer (PHY) specifications. IEEE Computer Society, 2007.
- [20] Stallings W., Local & Metropolitan Area Networks. 1996, NJ: Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs.
- [21] IEEE Standard 802.11, Wireless LAN Medium Access Control (MAC) and Physical Layer (PHY) Specifications. August 1999.
- [22] CISCO, Data Sheet of Cisco Aironet 1200 Series Access Point.
- [23] IEEE Standard 802.11, IEEE 802.11g-2003: Further Higher Data Rate Extension in the 2.4 GHz Band. October 2003.
- [24] CISCO, Capacity Coverage & Deployment Considerations for IEEE 802.11g.
- [25] J. Macker S. Corson, Mobile Ad-hoc Networking (MANET): Routing Protocol Performance Issues and Evaluation Considerations. RFC 2501, Jan 1999.
- [26] C. Perkins, Royer, E. Ad-Hoc On-Demand Distance Vector Routing. In Proceedings of the 2nd IEEE Workshop on Mobile Computing Systems and Applications, February 1999.
- [27] D. Johnson, Maltz, D., Dynamic Source Routing in Ad-hoc Wireless Networks.
  Mobile Computing Systems and Applications: p. 158-163, December 1994.
- [28] G. Hansen T.H. Clausen, L. Christensen and G. Behrmann. The Optimized Link State Routing Protocol, Evaluation through Experiments and Simulation. In IEEE Symposium on "Wireless Personal Mobile Communications", September 2001.

- [29] F. L. Templin R. G. Ogier, B. Bellur and M. G. Lewis, Topology Broadcast based on Reverse-Path Forwarding (TBRPF). draft-ietf-manettbrpf-05.txt, INTERNET-DRAFT, MANET Working Group, Mar. 2002.
- [30] B. Bellur and R. G. Ogier. *A Reliable, Efficient Topology Broadcast Protocol for Dynamic Networks*. In in Proc. IEEE INFOCOM '99. New York, March 1999.
- [31] J.C. Navas, Imielinski, T. Geocast geographic addressing and routing. In in ACM/IEEE International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking (Mobicom'97), 1997.
- [32] X. Hong M. Gerla, G. Pei. Landmark Routing for Large Ad-hoc Wireless Networks. In in Proceedings of IEEE GLOBECOM 2000. San Francisco, CA, Nov. 2000.
- [33] Y.B. Ko, Vaidya, N., Location-Aided Routing (LAR) in Mobile Ad-hoc Networks. ACM/Baltzer WINET J., Vol. 6, No. 4: p. 307-321, 2000.
- [34] B. Karp, Kung, H.T. (GPSR): Greedy perimeter stateless routing for wireless networks. In in Proceedings ACM/IEEE International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking, 2000.
- [35] K Xu X Hong, M Gerla, CA Los Angeles, *Scalable Routing Protocols for Mobile Ad-hoc Networks*. IEEE network, July/August 2002.
- [36] C.-C. Chiang A. Iwata, G. Pei, M. Gerla, and T.-W. Chen, Scalable Routing Strategies for Ad-hoc Wireless Networks. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications: p. 1369-1379, Aug. 1999.
- [37] M. Gerla G. Pei, and T.-W. Chen. Fisheye State Routing: A Routing Scheme for Ad-hoc Wireless Networks. In in Proceedings of ICC 2000. New Orleans, LA, Jun. 2000.
- [38] R. Ramanathan C. Santivanez, I. Stavrakakis, . Making Link-State Routing Scale for Ad-hoc Networks. In in Proceedings of The 2001 ACM International Symposium on Mobile Ad-hoc Networking and Computing (Mobihoc2001). Long Beach, California, Oct. 2001.
- [39] P. Jacquet T. Clausen, A. Laouiti, P. Muhlethaler, a. Qayyum et L. Viennot. Optimized Link State Routing Protocol. In IEEE INMIC. Pakistan, 2001.
- [40] P. Jacquet, Muhlethaler, P., Qayyum, A., Optimized link state routing (OLSR) protocol. Internet Draft, draft-ieft-manet-olsr-06.txt, July 2002.
- [41] A Huhtonen. Comparing AODV and OLSR Routing Protocols. In Seminar on Internetworking. Sjökulla, 2004.

- [42] E. W. Dijkstra, A note on two problems in connexion with graphs. In Numerische Mathematik: p. 269-271, 1959.
- [43] C.-K. Toh, Associativity-Based Routing For Ad-hoc Mobile Networks. Wireless Personal Communications Journal, Special Issue on Mobile Networking and Computing Systems, Kluwer Academic Publishers, vol. 4, no. 2: p. 103-139, Mar. 1997.
- [44] A. Ephremides M. S. Corson, A Distributed Routing Algorithm for Mobile Wireless Networks. ACM/Baltzer Wireless Networks Journal, Vol. 1, No. 1, February 1995.
- [45] V. D. Park and M.S. Corson. A Highly Adaptive Distributed Routing Algorithm for Mobile Wireless Networks. In in Proceedings of IEEE INFOCOM '97. Kobe, Japan, Apr. 1997.
- [46] A. and Ould-Khaoua Al-Maashri, M. Performance Analysis of MANET Routing Protocols in the Presence of Self-similar Traffic. In in Proceedings of the 31st IEEE Conference on Local Computer Networks. Florida, USA, November 2006.
- [47] Charles. E. Perkins and Elizabeth. M. Royer Samir. R. Das. Performance comparison of two ondemand routing protocols for Ad-hoc networks. In In Proceedings of 9th Annual Joint Conference of IEEE Computer and Communications Societies INFOCOM 2000, March 2000.
- [48] M. Gerla G. Pei, X. Hong, and C. -C. Chiang. A Wireless Hierarchical Routing Protocol with Group Mobility. In in Proceedings of IEEE WCNC'99. New Orleans, LA, Sept. 1999.
- [49] C. -C. Chiang and M. Gerla. Routing and Multicast in Multihop, Mobile Wireless Networks. In in Proceedings of IEEE ICUPC'97. San Diego, CA, Oct. 1997.
- [50] Z. Haas, Pearlman, M.R., A Hybrid Framework for Routing in Ad-hoc Networks, in Ad-hoc Networking, Addison-Wesley Longman Publishing Co., Inc. p. 221 -253. 2001.
- [51] M. Gerla and X. Hong G. Pei. LANMAR: Landmark Routing for Large Scale Wireless Ad-hoc Networks with Group Mobility. In in Proceedings of IEEE/ACM MobiHOC 2000. Boston, MA, Aug. 2000.
- [52] D. Niculescu and B. Nath. Vor base stations for indoor 802.11 positioning. In in Proceedings of the 10th annual international conference on Mobile computing and networking. ACM Press, 2004.

- [53] E. Flannery A. Haeberlen, A. M. Ladd, A. Rudys, D. S. Wallach, and L. E. Kavraki. *Practical robust localization over large-scale 802.11 wireless networks*. In in Proceedings of the 10th annual international conference on Mobile computing and networking. ACM Press, 2004.
- [54] <u>http://opnet.com/products/modeler/home.html</u>.
- [55] Manual OPNET Modeler Version 15.0.A.
- [56] V. Gummalia A. Chandra, and J. O. Limb,, *Wireless Medium Access Control Protocols.* in IEEE communications Surveys, 2000.
- [57] Young-Bae Ko and Vaidya Nitin H., Location-Aided Routing (LAR) in mobile Ad-hoc networks. in Proc. ACM/IEEE MobiCom: p. Pages 66-75, October 1998.
- [58] R Govindan YJ Kim, B Karp, S Shenker, Geographic routing made practical, in In proc. of NSDI. May 2005: Boston, MA.
- [59] B Liskov B Leong, R Morris. *Geographic routing without planarization*. In In Proc. of NSDI, 2006.
- [60] J Kubiatowicz SC Rhea. *Probabilistic location and routing*. In In Proc. of IEEE INFOCOM, June 2002.
- [61] B. Karp S. Ratnasamy, L. Yin, F. Yu, D. Estrin, R. Govindan, and S. Shenker. "GHT: A geographic hash table for data-centric storage in sensornets. In in First ACM International Workshop on Wireless Sensor Networks and Applications (WSNA). Atlanta, Georgia, September 2002.
- [62] H. Singh and J. Urrutia E. Kranakis. Compass routing on geometric networks. In in Proceedings 11th Canadian Conference on Computational Geometry. Vancouver, August 1999.
- [63] P. Bose and P. Morin, *Online routing in triangulations*. in 10th Annual Internation Symposium on Algorithms and Computation (ISAAC), 1999.
- [64] I. Stojmenovic and X. Lin, Loop-free hybrid single-path/flooding routing algorithms with guaranteed delivery for wireless networks. IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems, vol. 12, no. 10, October 2001.
- [65] H. Takagi and L. Kleinrock, Optimal transmission ranges for randomly distributed packet radio terminals. IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 32, no. 3: p. pp. 246-257, March 1984.
- [66] B Raman K Chebrolu, S Sen, Long-distance 802.11 b links: performance measurements and experience. In ACM MOBICOM, 2006.

- [67] A Misra S Banerjee, Minimum energy paths for reliable communication in multi-hop wireless networks. Proceedings of the 3rd ACM international symposium on Mobile Ad-hoc networking & computing, 2002.
- [68] L Klein-Berndt MR Souryal, LE Miller, N Moayeri, Link assessment in an indoor 802.11 network. Proc. of IEEE WCNC, 2006.
- [69] S Banerjee Q Dong, M Adler, A Misra, Minimum energy reliable paths using unreliable wireless links. Proceedings of the 6th ACM international symposium on Mobile Ad-hoc networking and computing, 2005.
- [70] T.-C. Hou and V. O.K. Li, *Transmission Range Control in Multihop Packet Radio Networks*. IEEE Trans. Commun., vol. 34, no. 1,: p. pp. 38–44, Jan. 1986.
- [71] G. G. Finn, Routing and addressing problems in large metropolitan-scale internetworks. Institute for Scientific Information, Tech. Rep. ISU/RR-87-180, March 1987.
- [72] P Nagpurkar S Gurun, BY Zhao, Energy consumption and conservation in mobile peer-to-peer systems. Proceedings of the 1st international workshop on Decentralized resource sharing in mobile computing and networking, 2006.
- [73] Y Yuansheng W Liang, Maximizing Battery Life Routing in Wireless Ad-hoc Networks. Proceedings of the Proceedings of the 37th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS'04), 2004.
- [74] Daniele D'Agostino Andrea Clematis, Vittoria Gianuzzi A Local Decision Algorithm for Maximum Lifetime in Ad-hoc Networks. Proceedings of the 8th International Euro-Par Conference on Parallel Processing, August 2002.
- [75] Oliver W. W. Yang Song Guo, Energy-aware multicasting in wireless Ad-hoc networks: A survey and discussion. Computer Communications, Volume 30 Issue 9, June 2007.
- [76] Leandros Tassiulas Jae-Hwan Chang, Fast Approximate Algorithms for Maximum Lifetime Routing in Wireless Ad-hoc Networks. Proceedings of the IFIP-TC6, May 2000.
- [77] PR Kumar V Kawadia, Principles and protocols for power control in wireless Ad-hoc networks. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, 2005.
- [78] Jianhua Sun Maggie Xiaoyan Cheng, Manki Min, Yingshu Li, Weili Wu, Energy-efficient broadcast and multicast routing in multihop Ad-hoc wireless networks: Research Articles. Wireless Communications & Mobile Computing, v.6 n.2 p. pp. 213-223, March 2006

- [79] Andrew S. Tanenbaum, Computer Networks. 4th edition ed. 2002: Pearson Education.
- [80] A. Helmy K. Seada, R. Govindan. On the effect of localization errors on geographic face routing in sensor networks. In Proceedings of the 3rd international symposium on information processing in sensor networks. Berkeley, California, USA, 2004.
- [81] R. Govindan Y. Kim, B. Karp, S. Shenker. On the pitfalls of geographic face routing. In Proceedings of the 2005 joint workshop on foundations of mobile computing. Cologne, Germany, 2005.
- [82] I. Stojmenovic H. Frey. On delivery guarantees of face and combined greedyface routing in Ad-hoc and sensor networks. In Proceedings of the 12th annual international conference on mobile computing and networking. Los Angeles, CA, USA, 2006.
- [83] R. Wattenhofer F. Kuhn, Y. Zhang, and A. Zollinger. Geometric ad-hoc routing: Of theory and practice. In Proceedings of the 22nd ACM international symposium on the principles of distributed computing, July 2003.
- [84] P. Morin P. Bose, I. Stojmenovic, J. Urrutia. Routing with guaranteed delivery in Ad-hoc wireless networks. In Proceeds of the 3rd international workshop on discrete algorithms and methods for mobile computing and communications, 1999.
- [85] S. and V. Jacobson Floyd, *The Synchronization of Periodic Routing Messages*. IEEE/ACM Trans. Netw.: p. 122-136, April 1994.
- [86] C. Papadopoulos R. Sinha, and J. Heidemann., Internet packet size distributions: Some observations. <u>http://netweb.usc.edu/rsinha/pkt-sizes/</u>.
- [87] Janez Bester Andrej Kos, Poisson Packet Traffic Generation Based on Empirical Data. Journal of Systemics, Cybernetics and Informatics, Volume 1, Number 5: p. 80-83, 2003.
- [88] Mukesh Singhal Rendong Bai, DOA: DSR over AODV Routing for Mobile Adhoc Networks. IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON MOBILE COMPUTING, VOL. 5, NO. 10, OCTOBER 2006.
- [89] G. Gopinath Geetha Jayakumar, Performance Comparison of Two On-demand Routing Protocols for Ad-hoc Networks based on Random Way Point Mobility Model. American Journal of Applied Sciences, 5, 6: p. 659-664, 2008.

- [90] CR Mandal R Misra. Performance comparison of AODV/DSR on-demand routing protocols for Ad-hoc networks in Constrained Situation. In IEEE International Conference on Personal Wireless Communications, 2005.
- [91] T Wysocki M Abolhasan, E Dutkiewicz, A review of routing protocols for mobile Ad-hoc networks. Ad-hoc Networks, 2004.

.\*

ç • · ·

## **Published work**

 H. Cao, G. Childs, and P. Ball, "Ad-hoc Wi-Fi coupled with UMTS FDD mode to provide Intelligent Relaying", proceedings of the Fifth International Symposium on Communication Systems, Networks and Digital Signal Processing (CSNDSP), Patras, Greece, pp. 220-223, 19-21 July 2006.

# 3<sup>RD</sup> PARTY COPYRIGHT MATERIAL EXCLUDED FROM DIGITISED THESIS

# PLEASE REFER TO ORIGINAL TEXT TO SEE THIS MATERIAL

# **Certificate of IET Short Paper Competition**

First place winner of the 'IET Short Paper Competition', IET Oxfordshire Branch, 3<sup>rd</sup> May 2006



# The Institution of Engineering and Technology

Founded 1871 incorporated by Royal Charter 1921

This is to certify that

Hui Cao

#### was awarded

First Place

for a paper presented at

Oxfordshire Short Papers Evening On 3rd May 2006

Mulley The

28 JUNE 2006

Chairman

Honorary Secretary

Date
## **Presentation Award**

 H. Cao, G. Childs, and P. Ball, 'A Novel Geographic Routing Protocol for Mobile Ad-hoc Networks', Present Around the World Final, the IET Younger Members Conference, Glasgow, 09 Nov 2006

· · · ,



A Novel Geographic Routing Protocol for Mobile Ad Hoc

BROOKES

Networks

Supervisor: Dr. Geoff Childs

Student: Hui Cao

Dr. Peter Ball



























## **Appendix A: Creating a Wireless Network on OPNET**

A blank scenario can be created by choosing File>New from the menu as shown in Figure A.1 and then follow the Startup Wizard.

K New	×
Project	-
<u>O</u> K	Cancel

Figure A.1 Startup Wizard

After entering project name and scenario name, choose Create Empty Scenario from Initial Topology as shown in Figure A.2.

You can start with an empty network	Initial Topology
from the object palette or import directly	Create empty scenario
from another data source.	Import from ATM text files
	Import from Circuit Switch Text Files
	Import from VNE Server
	Import from XML

Figure A.2 Initial Topology

Next step is to choose network scale. The size of network can be chose from world, enterprise, campus, office, logical or from maps as shown in Figure A.3.

Indicate the type of network you will be	Network Scale			-
modeling	World Enterprise			
	Campus Office Logical			
	Choose from maps			
	I Use metric units			-
		< Back	Next >	0.4

Figure A.3 Choose Network Scale

The network size can be specified by defining X and Y span and the units as shown in Figure A.4.

Specify the units you wish to use (miles,	Size:				
kilometers, etc.) and the extent of your network	X span:	500			
	Y span:	500			
	Units:	Meters			-
			< Back	Next >	Quit

Figure A.4 Specify Size

In Figure A.5, MANET or other model family can be included next from 'Select technologies'.

elect the technologies you will use in our network.	Model Family	Include?		-
	links	No		
	links_advanced	No		
	links_PPP	No		
	Load_Balancers	No		
	Lucent	No		
	Mainframe	No		
	MANET	Yes	All and the second	
	McData	No		
	MIPv6_adv	No		
	mobile_ip	No		

Figure A.5 Select Technologies

After review and choose finish as shown in Figure A.6, a blank scenario is then created.

Review the values you have chosen.	Scale: Campus	
Use the back button to make changes.	Size: 500 m x 500 m	
	Model Family	MapInfo Maps (background first)
	MANET	None selected

Figure A.6 Review of Startup Wizard

A wireless network can be created manually by opening the 'Object Palette' as shown in Figure A.7, the MANET nodes can be dragged and dropped into the project editor workspace.



Figure A.7 Object Palette

The preferred method for automatically deploying wireless networks is through either 'Rapid Configuration' or 'wireless network deployment' wizard.

The 'Rapid Configuration' function can be found from 'Topology' menu. The first step to set up the network is to choose a proper topology for the network from bus, mesh, ring, star, tree and unconnected net as shown in Figure A.8. The unconnected net is selected here for wireless network since other topologies are only suitable for wired network.

Rapid Configuration		×
Configuration: Unconnecto	ed Net	] •
Seed 1	Net	

Figure A.8 Topology Selection for Rapid Configuration

A seed can be randomly generated or manually entered as shown in Figure A.9. By using different seeds, the distribution of the nodes also changes.

Rapid Confi	guration: See	d Sele 🎫
Seed: 2078917	052	
Generate	<u>O</u> K	Cancel

Figure A.9 Seed selection

In Figure A.10, the MANET node model and number of node will be selected and their type with either mobile or fixed. The placement will define the area where the nodes will be placed. A wireless network will be created after this configuration.

Models		
Node model: manet_station	Vumber 50	
Node type: Mobile	-	
Placement		1.1.1
- Top left	Size	
X: 36.5027	Width: 477.282	
Y: 113.078	Height: 256.522	
Calant Madala	OK	Canoal

Figure A.10 Models and Placement Configuration

'Wireless Network Deployment' wizard is another option to build, configure, and deploy a wireless network segments in a quick and easy way.

	x_0]y >	(m) .			
Network Creation	Location	Technology	Topology	Node Mobility	Configuratio Summary
This wizard le and mobility. After defining have a previo Choose from © Use wizar C Load spec	ets you create a w Use this wizard ite your parameters, ously saved filed, y the following optic d to provide netwo cifications from a s	ireless network by s ratively to deploy m you can save them you can use it now. ons: ork specifications	pecifying paramete ultiple network seg into a file in the las	ers for technology, ments into the sar at stage of this wiz	topology. ne project. ard. If you
0	Thoose specification	on file			
		and the second se			

Figure A.11 Network Creation for Wireless Deployment Wizard

Figure A.11 shows the network creation method for wireless deployment wizard. Selection of "Use wizard to provide network specifications" will confirm of use the wizard to configure a new network.

Network					
Creation	Location	Technology	Topology	Mobility	Configuratio Summary
C Create net	work in current	subnet			ise eitner
C Create net	work in current work in new sul on Specifications	subnet bnet s X/Y			ise eitner
C Create net	work in current work in new sul on Specifications nate Type	subnet bnet S X/Y			ise eitner
C Create net	work in current work in new sul in Specifications nate Type	subnet bnet s X/Y T 156.692813 0.00			ise eitner

Figure A.12 Location for Wireless Deployment Wizard

In Figure A.12, the location coordinates will be specified in which the new network will be deployed. The technology that will be used is defined in the next step as shown in Figure A.13. The WLAN (Ad-hoc) technology is selected and the parameters such as node transmission power, operation mode, data rate and ad-hoc routing protocol for each node are defined.

Creation   Location   Technology   Topology   Node Mobility   Configurat Summary     Choose the technology you want to deploy and specify its parameters. These values will be applied to all applicable nodes during the network creation.   These values will be applied     Technology Specifications	Network	х[ф]у Þ				
Choose the technology you want to deploy and specify its parameters. These values will be applied to all applicable nodes during the network creation.      Technology Specifications     Choose technology   WLAN (Ad hoc)     Vode Transmission Power (W)   0.001     Operational Mode   802.11b     Data Rate   11 Mbps     Ad-hoc Routing Protocol   GRP	Creation	Location	Technology	Topology	Node Mobility	Configuration
Node Transmission Power (W)0.001Operational Mode802.11bData Rate11 MbpsAd-hoc Routing ProtocolGRP	- Technolog	Constitutions -				
Operational Mode802.11bData Rate11 MbpsAd-hoc Routing ProtocolGRP	Choos	e technology	WLAN (Ad-hoc)	-		
Data Rate 11 Mbps   Ad-hoc Routing Protocol GRP	Choos Node Tra	e technology	WLAN (Ad-hoc)	0.001		
Ad-hoc Routing Protocol GRP	Choos Node Tra	e technology ansmission Power (	WLAN (Ad hoc)	0.001 802.11b		
	Choos Node Tra Operation Data Rat	e technology ansmission Power nal Mode	WLAN (Ad-hoc) (W)	• 0.001 802.11b 11 Mbps		

Figure A.13 Technology for Wireless Deployment Wizard

Figure A.14 shows the topology configuration, a geographical overlay can be specified as follows. However, for an Ad-hoc network only the 'None' overlay can be chose.

- None—Define the area in square meters.
- Cell (Hexagon)—Define the number of cells and the cell radius in kilometers.
- Cell (Square)—Define the number of cells and the length of the squares in kilometers.

"Mobile Node Placement Specifications" can be chose from random, grid or circular. If grid fashion is preferred, the number of rows and columns in the grid need to be provided.

Wireless Dep	Noyment Wizard	- Topology		<b>F†7</b>	×
Network Creation	Location	Technology	Topology	Node Mobility	Configuratio Summary
Choose a geo node placem representatio Geographic Choose Geo Area (squ Mobile Noo Place nodes	ographic overlay a ent for the Mobile n of your specifica cal Overlay Specif ographical Overlay are meters) de Placement Specification in Random	Ind specify dimension Nodes in your network tions but is only an e ications	ns for your WLAN ork. Note that the o example of the ove	(Ad-hoc) network. example displayed and node play e	Specify the is not a true cement.
	Qui	t Back	Next	Finish	Help

Figure A.14 Topology for Wireless Deployment Wizard

The node model, count, and node name prefix are specified as shown in Figure A.15. In this case, manet\_station will be selected as the node model. The 'count' parameter defines the number of node that will be deployed in the network. The Node Name Prefix prepends a text string to a generated node name, assuring unique node names in this network. The 'access point' is not viable for Ad-hoc option.

letwork creation Lo	oution	Technology	Topolog	V Node	Configur	] at
Select the number o for your Access Poir	of nodes in y nt(s) and Mo	your WLAN (Ad-hoc) obile Nodes.	network. Yo	u can also speci	y the node model	-
Node Mod	del w	lan_ethemet router	-	manet station	-	-
Cou	unt 0	\$		20		
Node Name Pre	efix 🗛	ccess Point		Mobile	]	
Connect all Acce	ess Points (v	via serial interfaces) (	using,a back	bone network		

Figure A.15 Node Model Selection for Wireless Deployment Wizard

Node mobility parameters for the wireless network can be specified as shown in Figure A.16. More rows can be applied to support multiple mobility profiles.

- Trajectory Information. 'Random Waypoint (Auto Create)' is the default setting. A mobility profile or a trajectory file can also be applied.
- Number of nodes. A number that up to the total number already specified for this network can be applied the trajectory information.
- Speed defines the movement speed of the nodes in meters per second.
- Area of Movement can be selected from 'within the network' for Ah-hoc network or 'within the cell' for an infrastructure network.
- Altitude of the nodes.

	xov					
Network Creation	Location	Technol	logy To	pology No Mot	ode Conf bility Su	igurati mmary
20 out of 20 Trajectory li	0 nodes have been on normation	configured	with mobility p	apie below. arameters Area of Movement	Altitude (m)	-
Pandam W/	avanint (Auto Create)	20	5.00	Within Network	0.00	
	aypoint (Auto Greate)	120	5.55	WILLING WELWORK	0.00	
		125	0.00	WILLIN NELWORK	0.00	×

Figure A.16 Node Mobility for Wireless Deployment Wizard

A MANET is then created after review the 'Configuration Summary' showing the specifications previously defined.

## **Appendix B: Radio Transceiver Pipeline Stages**

Radio links provide a broadcast medium and each transmission can potentially affect multiple receivers throughout the network model. In addition, for a given transmission, the radio link to each receiver can exhibit different behaviour and timing. As a result, a separate pipeline must be executed for each eligible receiver. The Radio Transceiver Pipeline consists of fourteen stages as shown in the figure below.



Figure B.1. Radio Transceiver Pipeline Execution Sequence for One Transmission Stage 0 (receiver group) is invoked only once for each pair of transmitter and receiver channels in the network, to establish a static binding between each transmitter channel and the set of receiver channels that it is allowed to communicate with. The purpose of

stage 0 is to reduce computation to the minimum required set and filter out ineligible receiver channels.

Stage 1 (transmission delay) is used to compute a result that is common to all destinations, and therefore can be executed just once per transmission. This stage is invoked to calculate the amount of time required for the entire packet to complete transmission. This result is the simulation time difference between the beginning of transmission of the first bit and the end of transmission of the last bit of the packet.

Finally, each individual pipeline sequence might not fully complete, depending on the result of stage 2 (closure) which is specified by the "closure model" attribute of the radio transmitter, because this stage is responsible for determining if communication between the transmitter and receiver is possible on a dynamic basis. The purpose of this stage is to determine whether a particular receiver channel can be affected by a transmission. The ability of the transmission to reach the receiver channel is referred to as closure between the transmitter channel and the receiver channel. The goal of the closure stage is not to determine if a transmission is valid or appropriate for a particular channel, but only if the transmitted signal can physically attain the candidate receiver channel and affect it in any way; thus, this stage applies to interfering transmissions.

Similarly, stage 3 (channel match) is specified by the "chanmatch model" attribute of the radio transmitter classifies a transmission as irrelevant with regard to its effect on a particular receiver channel, thereby preventing the pipeline sequence from reaching the final stages. One of three possible categories must be assigned to the packet, as defined below:

- Valid. Packets in this category are considered compatible with the receiver channel and will possibly be accepted and forwarded to other modules in the receiving node, provided that they are not affected by an excessive number of errors. Classification as a valid packet usually depends at least on agreement between transmitter and receiver channels concerning the values of certain key attributes.
- Noise. This classification is used to identify packets whose data content cannot be received, but that have an impact on the receiver channel's performance by generating interference. Packets are generally classified as noise as a result of incompatibilities between the transmitter and receiver channel configurations.

• Ignored. If a transmission is determined to have no effect whatsoever on a receiver channel's state or performance, then it should be identified using this classification. The Simulation Kernel will then discontinue the pipeline execution between the transmitter and receiver channels for this particular transmission (future transmissions between the channels are not prevented).

Stage 4 is transmitter antenna gain. It characterizes the phenomenon of magnification or reduction of the transmitted signal energy in a manner which depends on the direction of the signal path. However, antennas that provide no gain to a transmitted signal in any direction are referred to as isotropic, because they have a perfectly symmetric behaviour with respect to all possible signal paths.

The propagation delay stage is the sixth stage (stage 5) of the radio transceiver pipeline, and is specified by the "propdel model" attribute of the radio transmitter. The purpose of this stage is to calculate the amount of time required for the packet's signal to travel from the radio transmitter to the radio receiver. This result is dependent on the distance between the source and the destination. In addition, the propagation delay result is used in conjunction with the result of the transmission delay stage to compute the time at which the packet completes reception.

The receiver antenna gain stage is the seventh stage of the radio transceiver pipeline. It is the earliest stage associated with the radio receiver rather than the transmitter, being specified by the receiver's "ragain model" attribute. The purpose of the receiver antenna gain stage is to compute the gain provided by the receiver's associated antenna, based on the direction of the vector leading from the receiver to the transmitter or no gain for the isotropic antenna.

The receiver power stage is stage 7 which is specified by the "power model" attribute of the radio receiver. The purpose of this stage is to compute the received power of the arriving packet's signal (in watts). For packets that are classified as valid, the received power result is a key factor in determining the ability of the receiver to correctly capture the information in the packet. For packets that are classified as noise, received power still must usually be evaluated to support calculation of relative strengths of valid and noise packets. In general, the calculation of received power is based on factors such as the power of the transmitter, the distance separating the transmitter and the receiver, the transmission frequency, and transmitter and receiver antenna gains. The interference noise stage is the ninth stage of the radio transceiver pipeline. The purpose of this stage is to account for the interactions between transmissions that arrive concurrently at the same receiver channel. The Simulation Kernel reserves a Transmission Data Attribute (TDA) for the purpose of storing the current level of noise from all interfering transmissions. This accumulator is maintained only for valid packets (as determined by the channel match stage) because there is generally no need to evaluate link quality for noise packets. The interference noise stage is expected to augment the value of this accumulator in each valid packet by the received power of the interfering packet. When a packet (valid or invalid) completes reception, the simulation Kernel automatically subtracts its received power from the noise accumulator of all valid packets that are still arriving at the channel.

Stage 9 is the background noise which is executed immediately after return of the received power stage. The purpose of this stage is to represent the effect of all noise sources except for other concurrently arriving transmissions which are already accounted for by the interference noise stage. The expected result is the sum of the power (in watts) of other noise sources, measured at the receiver's location and in the receiver channel's band. Normally, the background noise value is later added to other noise sources to compute a total noise level in the signal-to-noise ratio stage.

The purpose of SNR stage (stage 10) is to compute the current average power SNR result for the arriving packet. This calculation is usually based on values obtained during earlier stages, including received power, background noise, and interference noise.

Stage 11 BER derives the probability of bit errors during the past interval of constant SNR. This is not the empirical rate of bit errors, but the expected rate, usually based on the SNR. In general, the bit error rate provided by this stage is also a function of the type of modulation used for the transmitted signal.

The error allocation stage is the thirteenth stage of the radio transceiver pipeline. It estimates the number of bit errors in a packet segment where the bit error probability has been calculated and is constant. This segment might be the entire packet, if no changes in bit error probability occur over the course of the packet's reception. Bit error count estimation is usually based on the bit error probability (obtained from stage 11) and the length of the affected segment.

Stages 9 through 12 of the pipeline are invoked to evaluate a link's performance in response to changes in the signal condition. There is always at least one invocation of stages 10 through 12 to evaluate performance over the full duration of a valid packet. However, an additional invocation will occur for each of these stages (9-12) whenever an interfering packet arrives, to compute new signal conditions.

The error correction stage is the final stage of the pipeline. It determines whether or not the arriving packet can be accepted and forwarded via the channel's corresponding output stream to one of the receiver's neighbouring modules in the destination node. This is usually dependent upon whether the packet has experienced collisions, the result computed in the error allocation stage, and the ability of the receiver to correct the errors affecting the packet. Based on the determination of this stage, the Kernel will either destroy the packet, or allow it to proceed into the destination node.